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Standing Committee on Health

Monday, June 22, 2020

● (1200)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. Ron McKinnon (Coquitlam—Port Coquit‐

lam, Lib.)): I call this meeting to order.

Welcome, everyone, to meeting number 29 of the House of Com‐
mons Standing Committee on Health. Pursuant to the order of ref‐
erence of May 26, 2020, the committee is resuming its briefing on
the Canadian response to the outbreak of the coronavirus.

To ensure an orderly meeting, I would like to outline a few rules
to follow.

Interpretation in this video conference will work very much like
in a regular committee meeting. At the bottom of your screen, you
have the choice of floor, English or French. As you are speaking, if
you plan to alternate from one language to the other, you will need
to also switch the interpretation channel so that it aligns with the
language you are speaking. You may want to allow for a short
pause when switching languages.

Before speaking, please wait until I recognize you by name, ex‐
cept during questions. The questioners will indicate to whom a giv‐
en question is directed. When you are ready to speak, you can click
on the microphone icon to activate your mike. I remind you that all
comments by members and witnesses should be addressed through
the chair, and that when you are not speaking, your mike should be
on mute.

I'd like to welcome our first panel of witnesses.

We have, from Transport Canada, Mr. Kevin Brosseau, assistant
deputy minister, safety and security; Mr. Lawrence Hanson, assis‐
tant deputy minister, policy; Ms. Wendy Nixon, director general,
aviation security; and, Mr. Nicholas Robinson, director general,
civil aviation.

We will go now to statements from the panel.

Transport Canada, you have a 10-minute statement. Please go
ahead.

Mr. Kevin Brosseau (Assistant Deputy Minister, Safety and
Security, Department of Transport): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the committee for inviting us here today.

I'd like to begin by recognizing that the COVID-19 pandemic has
created an unprecedented global crisis that is significantly impact‐
ing all aspects of the Canadian transportation industry—travellers,
shippers and our economy. During these times, Transport Canada's
highest priority is the safety and security of Canadians and the

transportation system. This means protecting passenger and crew
health and safety as well as ensuring the continued flow of the food
and supplies that Canadians need to remain healthy.

That is why, since the earliest stages of the pandemic, Transport
Canada has worked hard to introduce a range of layered measures,
guidance and requirements to ensure that transportation operations
remain safe for workers and passengers. The department's work is
informed by the latest science and data as well as the guidance of
public health officials and agencies. The Minister of Transport has
also exercised his authority to enact measures under several pieces
of legislation, including the Canada Marine Act, the Aeronautics
Act and the Canada Shipping Act, in the face of this extraordinary
situation.

I would like to outline some of the actions taken to date.

The close confines of cruise ships were identified early on as
high-risk for spread of the disease. On March 13 the minister an‐
nounced that the Government of Canada intended to postpone the
start of the cruise ship season until at least the end of October. In
addition, he also prohibited all Canadian Arctic stops for the entire
season.

Even as the government restricted non-essential travel, we
worked to help keep the air and marine sectors moving safely and
to ensure that supply chains were not disrupted. That is why the
government announced, on March 16 and 17, general extensions
for some marine personnel certificates and aviation medical certifi‐
cates.

On March 17 the minister also issued an interim order requiring
Canadian air operators to conduct a health check of all air passen‐
gers travelling to Canada from international locations. Operators
must now deny boarding to any traveller with COVID-19 symp‐
toms, regardless of citizenship. That same day, the minister waived
the requirement for ferry operators to make passengers leave their
vehicles while on board during the crisis. In the interest of promot‐
ing physical distancing, passengers are now allowed to remain in
their cars as long as operators put extra safety precautions in place.

Since March 18, all international flights have been directed to
only four Canadians airports— Montreal, Toronto, Calgary and
Vancouver—to consolidate available resources for checking inter‐
national passengers.
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On March 19 the Minister of Transport issued an exemption for
marine crews entering Canada, deeming them essential. This ex‐
emption ensures that food, medicine and other essential products
continue to arrive safely at our ports.

On March 21 the Prime Minister announced that the Government
of Canada was working with Canadian airlines and foreign govern‐
ments to provide access to commercial flights for thousands of
Canadian travellers who wanted to return home and were faced
with challenging circumstances abroad. We also worked with Cana‐
dian airlines to ensure that stranded Canadians were offered a rea‐
sonable commercial price for return tickets home.

In late March the Minister of Transport took a further step to
contain the spread of the virus by requiring all air operators and in‐
tercity passenger rail companies to conduct a health check of trav‐
ellers. They must perform this check on travellers before they board
a flight or intercity train in Canada and deny boarding to those with
visible signs of the illness.

In early April Transport Canada introduced guidelines to help
keep commercial vehicle drivers safe as they carry out their essen‐
tial work. The department worked with other federal departments,
industry representatives and unions to develop the guidelines. A
few days later, the department issued guidance allowing commer‐
cial drivers to move freely across provincial and territorial borders.

On April 5 several mandatory requirements for commercial ma‐
rine vessels carrying more than 12 passengers were introduced.
Among other changes, these operators were prohibited from engag‐
ing in non-essential activities, such as tourism or recreation, and
these measures were updated at the end of May. The minister also
prohibited Canadian cruise ships from mooring, navigating or tran‐
siting in Canadian Arctic waters. Any foreign passenger vessel
wishing to enter Canadian Arctic waters must first obtain permis‐
sion and agree to conditions to protect marine personnel and local
communities.

Under these changes, ferries and other essential passenger ves‐
sels can continue to operate, but at half their maximum capacity, or
introduce other practices that align with Public Health Agency of
Canada guidelines to reduce the risk of spreading COVID-19.
● (1205)

This could include keeping people in their vehicles, when feasi‐
ble, or enhanced cleaning and hygiene measures.

In addition, to better protect employees and passengers, Trans‐
port Canada issued guidelines to ferry operators similar to those for
air and intercity rail passengers. Ferry operators must now screen
passengers for signs of COVID-19 before boarding, and deny
boarding to anybody showing signs of the illness.

As I mentioned, the safety and security of Canadians and the
transportation system remain our top priority. That’s why, effective
April 20, it was announced that all air travellers must wear a non-
medical mask or face covering over their mouth and nose when go‐
ing through security, when boarding and when on the plane when
physical distancing guidelines cannot be maintained. Air passen‐
gers on flights to or from Canadian airports must show that they
have the necessary non-medical mask or face covering at boarding

or they will not be allowed to board the plane. In addition, we have
encouraged anyone travelling by train, boat, bus or ferry to also
wear face coverings whenever possible.

Furthermore, the operators of ferries and essential passenger ves‐
sels now provide public messaging to travellers about the need for a
face covering during their journey. The messaging stresses the need
for passengers to use them to cover their mouth and nose when they
cannot maintain physical distance from others.

In May, the Minister of Transport extended the prohibition of
cruise ships with overnight accommodations for more than 100
people until October 31, 2020. Those with no overnight accommo‐
dations, and those that carry fewer than 100 people overnight, are
deferred until at least July 1 of this year.

Earlier this month, the minister announced the expansion of the
requirements for the use of face coverings for workers and others
involved in the transportation sector. Also, as of the end of June, air
operators will be required to conduct temperature screenings at the
point of departure for all passengers on international flights enter‐
ing Canada. This will apply regardless of a passenger's point of ori‐
gin.

By the end of July, the Canadian Air Transport Security Authori‐
ty will also be responsible for screening passengers’ temperatures
as part of the departure procedures for domestic, transborder and
international flights. It will also check the temperatures of airport
and aviation personnel before they enter the restricted areas of air‐
ports, to help maintain a healthy and safe space for travellers and
workers alike.

We acknowledge that the transportation system is vital for the
restart of our economy and for our quality of life. It is vital for our
safety and security. As the situation continues to evolve, Transport
Canada is working closely with other levels of government and
with senior transportation sector representatives to tailor our ap‐
proach to protecting Canadians. We communicate daily with repre‐
sentatives from across federal, provincial and territorial government
departments and agencies, from the private sector and labour orga‐
nizations and from indigenous communities.
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On behalf of Transport Canada, I'd like to take a moment to rec‐
ognize and thank workers across the transportation sector. In the
face of challenges, they are keeping people and goods moving, en‐
suring that our country remains safe for all of us. Transport Canada
employees, such as on-the-ground inspectors and many others, are
so very critical for getting supplies to people and sustaining the
Canadian economy. We appreciate all of their efforts as they contin‐
ue to work with us and for Canadians.

My colleagues and I would be happy to answer any of your ques‐
tions.
● (1210)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Brosseau.

Now we will start our rounds of questions. We will do two
rounds of questioning, starting with Mr. Doherty.

Mr. Doherty, please go ahead. You have six minutes.
Mr. Todd Doherty (Cariboo—Prince George, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our guests for being here today. Wherever possible,
please keep your answers brief, as we have a lot of questions to go
through. I do appreciate you all being here today.

Mr. Brosseau, in Canada's early response to the COVID pandem‐
ic, how reliant was Canada on the advice, recommendation or di‐
rection from the World Health Organization?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Canada relied significantly on advice from
a number of organizations, including the International Civil Avia‐
tion Organization and others. The WHO no doubt factored promi‐
nently into our conversations with the Public Health Agency of
Canada.

Mr. Todd Doherty: In the advisory issued on January 24, the
WHO advised countries to implement temperature screening at first
ports of entry and focus on early screening at first ports of entry.
They said, “The risk of importation of the disease may be reduced
if temperature screening” is implemented at the first port of entry
and is “associated with early detection of symptomatic passengers
and their referral for medical follow up.”

Why is it, then, that Canada refused to actually implement tem‐
perature screening at this point and waited months to implement
that emergency measure?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, that question also would be, I
think, relevant to the Public Health Agency of Canada. As the sci‐
ence and the evidence evolved over time, we believed that taking
the measure when we did was appropriate for the aviation sector at
that time.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Mr. Chair, through you, would Mr. Brosseau
be able to table with this committee at his earliest convenience any
science or relevant reports that show that temperature screening
was effective and when Transport Canada received that?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Yes.
Mr. Todd Doherty: Thank you.

Mr. Brosseau, looking back, would you agree that our borders
should have been closed earlier than March 18? Yes or no.

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: My personal opinion, Mr. Chair, is less
relevant. I'm not responsible for opening or closing the borders.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Given the knowledge that we had at that
time, countries that were closer to the epicentre of the disease—
South Korea, Japan, Taiwan—took more extreme measures in the
month of January and subsequently have weathered the COVID
storm better than Canada. Would you not agree with me that if
Canada had taken more extreme measures at that time, Canada may
have fared better?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Transport Canada, Mr. Chair, took a num‐
ber of measures. I outlined a number of them in terms of the border.
I would suggest that question be better directed to another govern‐
ment department.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Mr. Chair, Conservatives have raised the is‐
sue of temperature checks at airports numerous times. Until recent‐
ly, the Liberals dismissed our concerns. They insisted they support‐
ed the science. On June 12, Transport Canada totally reversed its
position. It will now implement temperature screening at the air‐
ports. Not only that, but it has asked front-line personnel through‐
out our aviation sector to all don masks. At any point has the Gov‐
ernment of Canada provided this PPE or any of the medical de‐
vices, testing devices, for aviation partners?

● (1215)

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, personal protective equipment
has been provided across various sectors when companies have re‐
quested it. In terms of the other devices, Mr. Chair, I don't believe
that's the case, but let me turn it over to any of my colleagues who
may have a more precise answer, if that's okay.

The Chair: Go ahead.

There seems to be no response.

Mr. Todd Doherty: All right, we'll go on to the next question.

Mr. Chair, through you to Mr. Brosseau and anybody on the pan‐
el who wants to chime in, last week the minister appeared at trans‐
port committee. Our colleague asked the question, “Minister, would
I be more or less likely to acquire COVID-19 at Pearson airport or
Union Station, in your opinion?” The minister then went on to say,
in his opinion, that the whole process of flying, from arriving at and
going through the airport, checking in, boarding the flight and then
picking up the bags, was a greater risk to the public than travelling
through Union Station.

Mr. Brosseau, does the department share the minister's opinion
on that?
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Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, I don't have the minister's direct
quote, but let me say that it's important to note that the aviation in‐
dustry is already heavily regulated in Canada to ensure the
strongest safety measures have been put in in order to protect trav‐
elling Canadians. We've put in additional measures. Many I've
identified, including pre-boarding health checks and visual inspec‐
tions of passengers for symptoms. The industry has also taken sig‐
nificant action as well. The measures are aligned with international
advice and practices that have been recommended as the pandemic
has evolved, including the recommendations by the WHO and the
International Civil Aviation Organization. The measures in place
offer comparable or better protection to doing any other activity
outside of the home. I think the risk is diminished with air travel, as
adhering to these measures is compulsory.

The Chair: Thank you.

We go now to Mr. Fisher for six minutes.
Mr. Darren Fisher (Dartmouth—Cole Harbour, Lib.): Thank

you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you very much to the officials here from Transport
Canada today.

Can anyone on the panel tell me how your department has en‐
gaged with the airline industry on the restrictions and the guidelines
the department has put out?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, I'll start with that answer, and
then any of my colleagues may wish to provide additional informa‐
tion.

Since the beginning of the pandemic, we have made stakeholder
engagement a critical component of our response strategy. Along
with the minister, Transport Canada officials have made this a num‐
ber one priority to ensure we are hearing directly from those in the
industry and those who are most impacted by this pandemic. In do‐
ing so, we have created a robust engagement strategy that is con‐
nected with all parts of the industry.

I'll speak to a few of them for a second. We have created a forum
of senior officials from major airlines and major airports to discuss
the most pressing concerns related to the restart of the industry. We
have co-chaired an air consultative committee that includes mem‐
bers from the federal government, major industry associations in‐
cluding the National Airlines Council of Canada, the Air Transport
Association of Canada, the Northern Air Transport Association and
a variety of operators, and by operators, I mean airlines and air‐
ports.

This group has been examining various aspects of the aviation
industry that we need to make changes to or improve to ensure the
restart of the industry is as safe as possible.

We have used our existing regulatory forums like the Canadian
aviation regulation advisory council, or CARAC, to distribute al‐
most daily messages on the actions that Transport Canada has taken
to support the industry. This council has an open membership in‐
cluding many industry associations and a variety of operators and
unions representing aviation workers. We have also established sev‐
eral special COVID consultative mechanisms that have been stood
up to engage industry in response to COVID-19. They cover a full

range of operators, both domestic and foreign airlines, and airports
and unions representing the aviation workers, for example, flight
attendants, pilots and CATSA screeners. All these engagements
with the industry partners take place on a weekly basis right now,
but we were meeting more frequently at the beginning of this crisis.
They have been instrumental in the development of a dozen or so
measures we have put in place in the air sector to ensure it can op‐
erate safely.

The minister and Transport Canada are also continuing extensive
bilateral engagement on an ongoing basis with key aviation part‐
ners in all regions in Canada.

This work has been essential to ensure the actions that have been
taken to assist the industry as well as hear directly from stakehold‐
ers on the ongoing and emerging challenges of the pandemic.

● (1220)

Mr. Darren Fisher: We talk about how COVID-19 has been
evolving, and the knowledge of how it's been evolving.

What do we now know about the role of air travel in spreading
COVID?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, we know that aviation networks
can play a role in the global importation of emerging infectious dis‐
eases. For the ongoing COVID-19 epidemic, 24 countries had offi‐
cially reported cases by the first week of February 2020. The first
cases in these countries all had travel history. With this information,
Transport Canada has worked with the aviation industry to imple‐
ment one of the strongest public health and safety responses to
COVID-19 in the global aviation industry.

It's important to note that this industry is already heavily regulat‐
ed in Canada to ensure the strongest safety measures to protect
travelling Canadians.

And as I've mentioned, we have put additional measures in place,
including pre-boarding health checks and visual inspection. We
were the first country to make face coverings mandatory in the avi‐
ation industry through regulation. We are also implementing tem‐
perature screening for outbound and inbound passengers in Canada.

We continue to work with the industry to implement additional
measures to reduce the risk of the Canadian aviation industry be‐
coming a vector for the virus.

Mr. Darren Fisher: You talked about data and science in your
opening remarks. How have the things Transport Canada has done
been based on science and data?

We hear an awful lot of people talk about this country or this
state did this or that. How much of your response is based on what
other countries may or may not do?
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Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I would say that the global best practices
that are under way have a significant impact on shaping our Cana‐
dian response. For the aviation sector in particular, the best prac‐
tices that have been identified through either the European Union
Aviation Safety Agency or the International Civil Aviation Organi‐
zation have played a significant role in creating a baseline through
which our measures can be assessed and implemented.

Mr. Darren Fisher: What's the status of train travel right now
for passengers in Canada? I guess that would depend on a lot of the
provincial regulations, province to province.

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Intercity rail passengers are governed by
Transport Canada. VIA Rail just announced that passengers will be
wearing masks. We also put in mandatory health checks. Questions
are being asked of all rail passengers before they take a train within
Canada. That was put in some time ago to ensure that no one who
exhibited the symptoms of COVID was permitted to travel.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you.
The Chair: We will go now to Mr. Thériault.

[Translation]

Mr. Thériault, you have the floor for six minutes.
Mr. Luc Thériault (Montcalm, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My first question is about air transportation. The United States
and the vast majority of European countries have taken steps to
force the hand of the airlines. The government's financial assistance
for the pandemic period is conditional on a guarantee that travellers
will be refunded. Air France and KLM announced on May 15 that
their customers would be refunded.

The minister came to the defence of the airlines by claiming that,
if they had to pay back their customers, they would not survive the
crisis because they do not have the financial means to do so.

Why not force the airlines to refund their customers before they
receive federal support?
● (1225)

[English]
Mr. Lawrence Hanson (Assistant Deputy Minister, Policy,

Department of Transport): With regard to the voucher policies in
the United States and Europe, both the United States Department of
Transportation and the European Commission had indicated that
airlines would be absolutely required to provide refunds. I will say
that our understanding, to date at least, is that this has not been ful‐
ly enforced in the United States, and that although the European
Commission took the position it did, a number of key European
Union members are not requiring, at least to this point, their carri‐
ers to actually provide refunds.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Thériault: Do you feel this would actually cause a fi‐

nancial issue for carriers like Air Canada and Air Transat?

We know that Air Canada was withholding $2.6 billion in pre‐
paid passenger revenue and that Air Transat was withhold‐
ing $8.9 million in customer deposits and deferred revenue.

Why not require them to refund travellers before they can get fi‐
nancial support?

[English]

Mr. Lawrence Hanson: I will note that our sense of the eco‐
nomic situation of the airlines is that it could be significantly prob‐
lematic for them to provide refunds at this time. It's important to
note, I think, that they have not really been obtaining any revenues
for some period of time now.

Obviously, the immediate forward picture also does not look par‐
ticularly great for airlines to increase revenues. To suddenly require
paying out the refunds all at once, which would be in the billions of
dollars, could have very significant economic consequences for air‐
lines. It would obviously vary among the airlines...and given the
amount of outstanding vouchers that they do have, but we do be‐
lieve the economic consequences could be serious indeed.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Mr. Hanson, were you given access to the
accounting records of these companies to confirm that you have a
fair and accurate idea of the impact this could have on them? Also,
what about the impact on consumers, who do not have $2.6 billion
in their pockets?

That money does not belong to Air Canada. It belongs to the
consumers who have not received service. Do you agree with me?

[English]

Mr. Lawrence Hanson: I would be clear from the outset that I
absolutely understand and I in no way mean to diminish the materi‐
ality of this for individual Canadians who have booked travel that
they cannot use right now or be refunded for.

I would say in terms of airlines and their economic impact that
obviously the airlines themselves have been clear, up to a certain
point, about the economic impact on their companies. You can see
it by the cutbacks that have happened and so forth. Beyond that, ob‐
viously, I wouldn't be in a position to speak to anything that is com‐
mercial confidential information from the airlines.

Lastly, I think it's probably worth noting that under existing leg‐
islative authorities, were it even desirous to do so, it is not some‐
thing where the government could just go in and legally demand
that refunds be provided based on existing authorities. The existing
airline tariffs never contemplated an event of this kind. Our air reg‐
ulations, our passenger regulations, are premised on the idea of air‐
lines being responsible for helping people to complete their jour‐
ney, which is impossible right now, obviously, so the refund provi‐
sions were ultimately dependent on the individual tariffs—

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Mr. Hanson, did you require the airlines to
give you access to their financial data so that you could see the big
picture, or did you take what they told you at face value?
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Would you agree to have them file their accounting records with
the Auditor General?
● (1230)

[English]
Mr. Lawrence Hanson: I can't speak to being able to legally re‐

quire private companies to provide their books. I would say—
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: When a country provides financial support,
it must be able to require things in return.

Why are we not requiring anything? We accept that $2.6 billion
in consumers' money is being withheld. Some of them will only go
on one trip in their entire life, and they are being told it will happen
at some point in the next two years. We do not even know how long
the pandemic will last for those travellers.

Why will you not pay them back? That money does not belong to
the company. Do you agree with me? It belongs to the consumers,
not the airline.
[English]

Mr. Lawrence Hanson: Chair, one thing to note to date is to
know that for the assistance the member speaks of—for example,
the large employer emergency facility financing—there is an appli‐
cation process for that. That process obviously is conducted on a
commercial confidential basis. There is at present no requirement
that airlines undertake a specific activity related to the refunds in
order to be eligible for that facility.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Thériault.
[English]

Go ahead, Mr. Davies, for six minutes, please.
Mr. Don Davies (Vancouver Kingsway, NDP): Thank you, Mr.

Chair, and thank you to the witnesses for being here.

Given that COVID-19 cases are spiking right now and growing
by 5% or more in 27 states across the United States, including Ari‐
zona, California, Texas and Florida, why isn't the federal govern‐
ment collecting data on COVID-19 in the trucking industry?

Mr. Brosseau.
Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I'll say that we work very closely with the

Canadian transportation association and other trucking organiza‐
tions to be able to do what we can to ensure that truckers, the essen‐
tial workers who are carrying goods across borders, are in fact kept
safe. In fact, that work includes regular conversations with them as‐
sociated with what issues they are facing, including being exposed
to COVID-19.

Mr. Don Davies: I understand. That sounds like you're doing it
on an anecdotal basis.

Would you not agree with me, given that our long-haul truck
drivers are crossing the United States, which has the largest number
of COVID-19 cases in the world and growing, that it might be a
good idea for our border officials to be gathering data in a system‐
atic way on where these truckers are going, who they're being ex‐
posed to and perhaps to have some sort of organized testing pro‐

gram? Would that not be a logical program for Transport Canada to
put in place?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Again, Mr. Chair, I think with the constant
dialogue that we have with truckers, whether it's border agencies
that carry out that work, I would leave that question to the CBSA,
but we definitely have that ongoing work. We also work closely
with provinces and territories to gather data and populate the na‐
tional collision database, for example. I think that's an important
piece to identify as well.

Mr. Don Davies: Fair enough.

Moving to the airline industry, how many individuals with con‐
firmed cases of COVID-19 have been identified as having travelled
on Canadian flights to date?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: For the answer to that question, Mr. Chair,
I'm going to turn to one of my colleagues, if that's okay. Mr. Robin‐
son or Ms. Nixon may know the answer to that question.

The Chair: Certainly. Go ahead.
Ms. Wendy Nixon (Director General, Aviation Security, De‐

partment of Transport): The number of active cases is actually
tracked by the Public Health Agency as part of the tracking that
CBSA does at border crossings, so as people arrive and depart, we
do get notified. It's not a significant number in recent weeks be‐
cause of the travel volumes being so diminished, but they are the
ones who track that. I'd be happy to follow up afterward with some
additional information on the number of cases.

● (1235)

[Translation]

Thank you.

[English]
Mr. Don Davies: Thank you, Ms. Nixon.

Mr. Brosseau, are rail passengers required to wear non-medical
masks or face coverings?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: They are not required, Mr. Chair, to wear
masks at this time.

Mr. Don Davies: Okay.
Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I will note, Mr. Chair, just for additional

context, that masks are requested to be worn in the measures we
took where physical distancing is simply not possible or not practi‐
cal. In the passenger rail sector—and really, that's VIA, for all in‐
tents and purposes—the volumes have been such that physical dis‐
tancing has been largely possible.

Mr. Don Davies: Fair enough.

Turning to physical distancing, according to a June 16, 2020, ar‐
ticle on CTV News, a passenger on a recent Flair Airlines flight
from Calgary to Vancouver photographed a completely packed air‐
craft with nearly all of the middle seats in the three-seat rows in the
image occupied. They shared that picture. The CEO of Flair Air‐
lines said that the passengers on the aircraft chose not to pay a pre‐
mium to leave the seat next to them unoccupied.
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Transport Canada then issued a statement that said it “encourages
air operators to keep an additional space between passengers when
seats are available and when safe to do so.” You recommended that
“air operators should develop guidance for spacing passengers
aboard aircraft”. Why aren't airlines required to leave space be‐
tween passengers aboard aircraft in order to maintain physical dis‐
tancing? Why are you allowing airlines to put passengers within the
six-foot barrier that public health officers are telling us must be
maintained to stay safe?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I'll start an answer and then turn it over to
one of my colleagues, who have been working very closely with
this sector on exactly these types of issues.

I'll say that it's clearly recognized that on an airplane physical
distancing is a challenge. Consequently, that's why we put measures
in place, for instance, such as the questions—the symptomatic
screening questions and the observations—as well as the mandatory
use of face coverings or face masks on the airplane where that
physical distancing isn't possible. We've approached this and pro‐
vided a layering process and system whereby measures actually
build on each other, and there's not one individual measure that
stands on its own, but a number of measures that have to work in
concert to be able to ensure or minimize the risk of transmission of
the virus during flight.

We're currently working with the aviation sector in developing a
guidance document that is all-encompassing and that will use, for
instance, the International Civil Aviation Organization as a baseline
standard for best practices in the aviation sector.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.
Mr. Don Davies: Mr. Brosseau, Dr. Tam has stated that masks

are no substitute.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.
Mr. Don Davies: Pardon me. I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, I didn't hear

you.
The Chair: No worries. That ends round one. We'll start round

two at this point with Dr. Kitchen.

Dr. Kitchen, please go ahead. You have five minutes.
Mr. Robert Kitchen (Souris—Moose Mountain, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, everybody, for being here today. It's greatly appreci‐
ated.

Mr. Brosseau, thank you very much for your presentation. It has
brought some questions to my mind.

You talked about health checks and about observing visible signs
of illness. What mandatory steps are you taking at Transport
Canada to ensure that people who are taking these health checks are
qualified and that the information collected is [Technical difficul‐
ty—Editor] and kept private?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I will start off the answer, and then I'll turn
it over to my colleague Ms. Nixon.

It's very important that the health checks be overseen by Trans‐
port Canada's oversight process. On the privacy of individual pas‐
sengers, it's crucial that we maintain not only the safety of the en‐

tire flying public, but that the privacy of individual passengers is al‐
so maintained.

Let me turn it over to my colleague Ms. Nixon, who will be able
to provide additional granularity to that question.

Ms. Wendy Nixon: To add to Kevin's response, the set of ques‐
tions that airlines are asked to rely on is an awareness or communi‐
cation factor with passengers to promote the fact that they should
be looking for COVID symptoms, especially in the early days of
travel, to make them understand the three main signs of COVID.
This was based on advice from Public Health Agency colleagues as
well as our civil aviation medicine group. Those signs were pro‐
moted.

We do oversight of those international carriers as well as domes‐
tic carriers to ensure that they are keeping that information private.
As we move forward with additional measures, including tempera‐
ture checks, we are verifying that privacy analysis is done and in
place as well as gender-based analysis to ensure that any of the
measures we take are—

● (1240)

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Thank you very much. I appreciate that.
That leads me to my next question.

The minister stated last week that, with respect to the announce‐
ment that passengers' temperatures need to be checked for all
flights, CATSA, the Canadian Air Transport Security Authority,
will be purchasing the temperature scanners and temperature guns.
Was this decision made based upon advice from Dr. Tam and
PHAC?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: This advice was taken in concert with our
engagement with the International Civil Aviation Organization and
a number of agencies around the world, including what we had seen
from our advice here internally to civil aviation medicine. We work
closely with the Public Health Agency of Canada as well.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: What was the total cost of that purchase?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, the temperature thermal screen‐
ers, and I'll turn to my colleagues, I don't believe have been pur‐
chased yet. In fact, the purchase price will depend on the device be‐
ing purchased, but they have not been purchased yet, to my knowl‐
edge.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: If they haven't been purchased, when I
flew from China to Ottawa two or three weeks ago, was that device
being used by the airline?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I don't know for certain, Mr. Chair, but it
very well could have been used by the airline at that time.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Now that we're talking about thermal
scanners, can you tell me the science that suggests the scanner has a
high efficiency rate? Canada's chief public health officer, Dr. Tam,
stated a month ago that doing temperature checks on travellers is
not effective at all, yet the Department of Transport has now an‐
nounced that you are using those temperature checks. What evi‐
dence can you tell me that shows it is effective?
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Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I'll say that we believe that temperature
screening is one of myriad different measures that can be used and
implemented in the aviation sector to ensure we're doing all we can
to prevent—

Mr. Robert Kitchen: But it does have multiple false positives
and false negatives. If the machine isn't held properly, if it's too
close, if it's too far away, if it hasn't been screened, if it hasn't been
cleaned, if someone comes in who has been sweating or someone
comes in after sitting in an air-conditioned vehicle, we get multiple
false positives and false negatives.

Where is the evidence and can you provide that for us?
Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, I believe it was Mr. Doherty

who asked for that information previously, and we undertook to
provide that. I'm happy to do that.

Again, I must stress that we see the temperature screen and the
proper standard operating procedures for its use as being one mea‐
sure among many in a multi-layered approach in the aviation sector
to prevent ill people from getting on an aircraft or being in an air‐
port.

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Kitchen.

We go now to Dr. Jaczek.

Dr. Jaczek, please go ahead for five minutes.
Ms. Helena Jaczek (Markham—Stouffville, Lib.): Thank you

very much to our witnesses from Transport Canada. Certainly,
you've outlined clearly the chronology of the measures that you've
been taking over time and projecting what you're going to be doing.
Obviously, as the situation over COVID-19 has evolved, you've
been monitoring very closely and following along, considering
what is best in terms of safety.

My first question is for Mr. Brosseau.

In response to Mr. Thériault, you were talking about the assis‐
tance that Transport Canada has given the airline industry, but he
implied that you've specifically helped out air carriers.

Could you go through exactly what measures you've taken from
a financial perspective to keep the airline industry alive?
● (1245)

Mr. Lawrence Hanson: I'll take that question, Chair.

To be clear, Transport Canada itself has not provided any formal
financial assistance to Canadian air carriers. The assistance that has
come has been within the ambit of larger sector-wide, economy-
wide assistance that's been developed, including airlines' access to
the emergency wage subsidy, their ability to seek liquidity assis‐
tance from the BCAP as well as the large employers emergency fi‐
nancing facility. Transport Canada itself has not provided any direct
financial assistance to airlines during the crisis.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you for clarifying that.

I'd like to turn to the health checks and the temperature screening
measures that have been undertaken. First of all, what are the re‐
sults of those health checks? How many passengers have been pro‐
hibited from boarding an airplane? I presume that Transport Canada

is keeping an eye on the results of those health checks. Let's just
concentrate on those for now.

Perhaps it's Ms. Nixon who might be able to respond.

Ms. Wendy Nixon: Yes.

In fact there's no reporting requirement built into the interim or‐
der with respect to the health checks. We have asked air carriers for
their numbers, the numbers of people who were turned away based
on the questions alone. In fact, some people, a handful of people,
were turned away from flights based on the answers they provided.
Some of this was because of communication and people not under‐
standing the requirements for transiting or people who were subject
to, for example, provincial health orders who were trying to fly
home. The numbers have been very small from what we hear from
the carriers.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Are you aware of whether the carriers are
providing those particular clients any public health recommenda‐
tions, such as whom to report to or potentially whom to get tested
by? Is there any follow-through with these individuals?

Ms. Wendy Nixon: We have provided air operators a significant
amount of guidance material, including contact information for
provincial health authorities and direction on what to give passen‐
gers when they arrive and answer those questions in a way that
might indicate they have COVID symptoms or if symptoms are vi‐
sually observed or if there are other signs to indicate denial of
boarding. The airlines are given information on how to treat that
passenger.

Transportation from the airport is one of the examples included
in our guidance material to air operators.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you.

Perhaps I could follow up on the direction Mr. Davies was going
in with regard to physical distancing. In theory, it would be quite
possible, in fact, to distance passengers six feet apart on flights, but
clearly there's an economic interest at stake here too.

Mr. Brosseau, could you explain to us the reasoning, with con‐
sultation presumably with PHAC, behind how you are not at this
point in any way enforcing a physical distance between passengers
during flights?
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Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I would say a few things. One, as I men‐
tioned before, there's the work we've done in trying to create a mul‐
ti-layered system. Two, there's what we've relied on in terms of ad‐
vice from other aviation authorities as well. Third, our advice and
direction and guidance will continue and is continuing to evolve. I
can't foreclose, as volumes go up and people start flying again, that
this may not be a measure that we take. Right now we believe guid‐
ance works very well for the most part, in terms of the broad array
of measures we've taken. We'll continue to assess that as we need
to.

Again, I think on some aircraft, for instance, the planes that trav‐
el to our remote and indigenous communities, it's simply not possi‐
ble to have physical distancing processes or standards in place.
● (1250)

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Jaczek.

Ms. Jansen, please go ahead. You have five minutes.
Mrs. Tamara Jansen (Cloverdale—Langley City, CPC):

Thank you.

My questions are for you, Mr. Brosseau. If you don't mind, I
would like to begin by sharing excerpts from an email I received
from a constituent who works at Vancouver airport. I received this
email back on January 29. Due to the fact that this particular con‐
stituent was concerned that sharing this information with me could
put their job at risk, they asked me to keep them anonymous.

Remember that this is from January 29:
MP Jansen, I'm hoping you can urge the government to have a more serious ap‐
proach by raising the threat level assessment of coronavirus. I'm a screening of‐
ficer at YVR. Most of the employees in YVR strongly feel we are not prepared
to fight or prevent the spread of the virus. Since Health Canada determines the
threat is low, there are no face masks provided to the employees. The official
language is, “not recommended but respected”, towards staff's personal choice to
wear the mask. We are only told to wash our hands more than 20 seconds but a
lot of passengers and some employees don't wash their hands or the soap runs
out during peak hours in some of the popular washrooms. Health Canada en‐
sures the public that a healthy person will be safe from the virus by washing
their hands and staying at least two metres away from others.
Currently that's impossible. Our searches do not allow officers to keep two me‐
tres distance when conducting searches nor do we have space at checkpoints. I
know for a fact that a lot of movement flow from YVR staff and inbound and
outbound travellers are mixed together in certain areas. While China has gone so
far to lock down cities, and other countries like Britain - they've stopped flights
to and from Beijing, it worries me and other YVR staff to see that the Canadian
government is taking such an optimistic approach for something so contagious
and dangerous. We're concerned and even if we want to help ourselves by wear‐
ing our own masks, they're sold out and I've even gotten teased on my own
choice of using my own mask by upper management.

That email was sent to me on January 29. We brought these con‐
cerns to the health committee immediately, and yet there were ex‐
treme delays before any of these concerns were properly addressed.

Mr. Brosseau, why was everyone so scared to take extra precau‐
tions? What could possibly have been the harm?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: That's a powerful email. I had similar dis‐
cussions with my family at the end of January.

We worked very closely with Labour Canada, Health Canada and
labour unions to assess, through all those lenses that you've identi‐
fied, the situation for key transportation workers in Canada. In fact,
we've been putting in a number of measures since the end of Jan‐

uary, recognizing the evolving nature of the advice as well as the
evolving nature of the disease in this country.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: With due respect, I think we need to face
the fact that these delays in decisions, allowing people to wear
masks or even recommending it, closing the borders, seriously im‐
pacted the health of Canadians and the spread of this coronavirus.
Had we listened to the concerns regular Canadians like my con‐
stituents were raising right at the beginning, we could have fared
much better.

Was anyone on your team, you or someone on your team, being
pressured to keep employees from using PPE because perhaps sup‐
plies were short and our national stockpile was non-existent?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: There was never a situation where any of
us felt, or I felt.... I never felt pressured. It was about trying to pro‐
vide the best advice through task hazard analyses, working with the
labour program and with provinces and territories, and ensuring
that employees were provided the best personal protective equip‐
ment that they would have—

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: I have a quick question, then. Would you
agree that it was reasonable for employees to be able to wear PPE
without fear of discipline by their superior officers?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: That's a difficult question for me to an‐
swer. I really don't know what kinds of disciplinary processes an in‐
dividual employer would have.

● (1255)

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: It's even just the mocking. I mean, the
poor guy was mocked for wanting to wear a mask to work.

What I'm hoping for is that these employees will actually get an
apology for the kinds of pressure and stress they were put under. It
was simply for wanting to wear a mask and gloves, which was for
their own personal safety. In a free country, they should have been
allowed to do that. Obviously, they should have been encouraged as
well. Can they expect an apology?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Mr. Chair, I think that question is best di‐
rected to the employer of these employees—

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: You don't have any connection to the fact
that they were being told not to wear masks in general? I under‐
stand that was part of the message you were giving them.
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Mr. Kevin Brosseau: It was generally the case back in January
that the guidance and advice was in fact evolving. We were in fact
the first country to mandate face coverings throughout the air jour‐
ney—

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: What date was that?
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Jansen.

We go now to Mr. Kelloway, please, for five minutes.
Mr. Mike Kelloway (Cape Breton—Canso, Lib.): Thanks, Mr.

Chair, and hello to my colleagues.

I want to thank the witnesses. Last week was National Public
Service Week, and taking that into account and the work that the
witnesses have done, I really want to thank you. My office and I
had a lot of questions during this pandemic for Transport Canada,
and you've been nothing but helpful during these challenging times.

My question is one that will focus on contrast and compare. I'll
utilize myself as an example in that line of questioning.

Before the House adjourned on March 13, I would travel by
plane at least once a week from Sydney, Nova Scotia, to Ottawa.
Like many things, COVID has made me think twice about the
spread of infection, and even when I go to the grocery store I'm
thinking about it. When it's safe for us to return to Ottawa—it's
more of a futuristic question—how would you compare the risk of
travelling by plane to, say, going to the gym or having dinner at a
restaurant?

That's open to anyone.
Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Thank you. I'll start the answer and then

I'll turn it over to one of my colleagues who is far more proficient.

I think it's important to note that the aviation industry, as I men‐
tioned before, is heavily regulated in Canada to ensure the strongest
safety measures are in place to protect Canadians who are travel‐
ling. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we've put additional mea‐
sures in place, including pre-boarding health checks, as we've dis‐
cussed, and visual inspections of passengers for symptoms. I'm
proud to say that we were the first or one of the first countries to
make face coverings mandatory through regulation in the aviation
industry. The industry as well has taken significant action at air‐
ports and with aircraft.

The measures are aligned with international advice and practices
that have been recommended as the pandemic has evolved, includ‐
ing the recommendations by the International Civil Aviation Orga‐
nization.

Let me turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Robinson, who might be
able to provide additional colour for you.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson (Director General, Civil Aviation, De‐
partment of Transport): Thank you.

Mr. Chair, we've spoken a lot about the measures that Transport
Canada has taken and put in place, but we've also worked directly
with industry on the many measures they also have put in place.

We see an industry that has had already significantly high stan‐
dards with regard to grooming or cleaning and disinfection of the
aircraft. They have gone much higher and put in additional mea‐

sures with regard to grooming and disinfection of aircraft in be‐
tween segments. They've looked at the filtration on aircraft. Many
larger, more advanced commercial aircraft that you see right now
have HEPA filters on them. They've used that and improved ways
to filter the air in that aircraft more rapidly to further prevent the
spread of the virus.

We see airports and air operators putting mechanisms in place to
respect that recommendation for physical distancing, to improve
their operations and their procedures. So, as you travel to Sydney
airport, you see different mechanisms in place. You might see
screens in front of your regular check-in operators, more encour‐
agement to check your own bags.

The industry has gone well above any regulations that we have
also put in place. We now have an industry that is much healthier
than the regular activities you would do day in and day out where
those measures aren't mandatory. You don't see mandatory face
coverings in a lot of the businesses that you're moving into, but in
the air industry you do.

● (1300)

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Do you see these measures that you just
mentioned as the new normal, given that we may have a second
round of the virus in the fall, and beyond that, who knows? Do you
see this as a bit of the new normal?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: I would say we're constantly monitor‐
ing all the measures that we have in place. We've embedded a lot of
the regulatory measures, the health check measures, the face cover‐
ing and temperature screening into what's called an interim order
that expires every 14 days. That's why you see our renewing it. It
also allows us a rollback mechanism. There is no way we can pre‐
dict how long these measures will be in place. They'll be in place as
long as they are required. We also don't want an industry that has
particular measures in place when the risk is no longer there, to put
a burden on an industry to not solve a problem.

Right now we have a goal that we want to reduce all risks with
regard to the air industry becoming a vector for the virus. That's
what we're putting in place. When we evaluate and see that maybe
there's a mechanism or measure that we have in place that's no
longer required, we'll have a rollback mechanism to remove that.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kelloway.
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[Translation]
The Chair: Mr. Desilets, you have the floor for two and a half

minutes.
Mr. Luc Desilets (Rivière-des-Mille-Îles, BQ): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

Mr. Brosseau, in your opinion, what prompted the mayor of
Montreal to ask her staff to hand out information and awareness
brochures? She even asked them to explain emergency health mea‐
sures to travellers arriving at the Montreal airport.

Is this overstepping, improvisation or a communication issue
with your department?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: Thank you very much for your question.

I am sorry, but I do not know why the mayor made those com‐
ments. It is very difficult, if not impossible, for me to answer that
question.

Mr. Luc Desilets: All right. The fact remains that she took the
lead. In Quebec, we all wondered what right she had to do that, but
it was a perfectly legitimate position that has proven to be appropri‐
ate over time.

I would like to ask you another question. Do you think that tak‐
ing passengers' temperature is an appropriate measure?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I found—
[English]

The Chair: Mr. Brosseau, if you're going to respond in French,
could you please switch to the French channel.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: You can answer in French or in English, no
problem.

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I am Franco-Albertan, so I will try to an‐
swer in French, and if I need to switch to English, I will.

I will say that taking temperatures is just one of several steps that
help airlines make sure that sick people do not set foot on a plane or
in another airport.

Mr. Luc Desilets: That answers my question. In that case, why
do Air Canada and WestJet have a protocol in place to take passen‐
gers' temperature? Is that the result of discussions you have had
with them, or did they do their research on their own?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: We frequently talk to big companies like
WestJet and Air Canada about the steps they are taking. We can
certainly ask them to put in place certain protocols. So I would say
that it is a result of our discussions, and also because they are look‐
ing at what other airlines around the world are doing. So they are
taking the necessary steps to ensure that Canadians trust them.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desilets.
Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, Mr. Brosseau.

[English]
The Chair: Mr. Davies, please go ahead for two and a half min‐

utes.
● (1305)

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

Mr. Brosseau, I want to pick up my questioning by noting that
you're allowing air carriers to fill airplanes to full capacity. Dr.
Theresa Tam has stated categorically that masks are no substitute
for physical distancing. Also, she has never said that physical dis‐
tancing is required except if it's more profitable not to physically
distance. Finally, we're not talking about flights to remote areas.
The example I gave you was a flight from Calgary to Vancouver.

Once again, why was Transport Canada allowing air carriers to
fill airplanes to capacity when all of our public health guidance has
told us that we should not be doing that?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: The public health advice we received is
that physical distancing should be maintained whenever possible.
We put in place a system of several measures—I'll call it a layered
approach—where there's no one single point of failure. That's why
we have the questions, the physical observations, the face masks,
the configuration of the aircraft in some cases, and the personal
protective equipment worn by flight attendants for their interactions
with passengers. There are myriad different points to minimize the
risk of transmission. It's not one individual measure but a number
of them.

Mr. Don Davies: I understand that, Mr. Brosseau, but would you
say that it's not possible, then, to physically distance on an aircraft
such as the one that travelled from Calgary to Vancouver?

Mr. Kevin Brosseau: I'm not sure what type of aircraft that was,
but I can certainly turn to my colleague Mr. Robinson, who might
have a better answer for you.

Mr. Don Davies: Well, let me suggest the answer.

The CEO of that airline said he didn't have the middle seats emp‐
ty because the passengers on the other side didn't pay a premium.
Clearly it was possible for them to physically distance, but the CEO
of the air carrier simply chose not to allow this because it was less
profitable to do so. I'm curious about that.

I'll pivot to a different question—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

The Chair: I'd like to thank all the witnesses for being here and
sharing with us all of their expertise and for giving us their time.
It's much appreciated and very helpful.

With that, we will suspend the meeting as we bring in the second
panel.
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● (1305)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1325)

The Chair: We will resume the meeting.

Welcome, everyone, to meeting number 29 of the House of Com‐
mons Standing Committee on Health. We are working pursuant to
the order of reference of May 26, 2020. We are resuming our brief‐
ing on the Canadian response to the outbreak of the coronavirus.

I would like to make a few comments for the benefit of the new
witnesses.

Before speaking, please wait until I recognize you by name, ex‐
cept that, during questioning, the questioners typically indicate to
whom they are addressing their questions. When you are ready to
speak, you can click on the microphone icon to activate your mike.
I remind everyone that all comments should be addressed to the
chair. Interpretation in this video conference will work very much
like in a regular committee meeting. You have the choice at the bot‐
tom of your screen of floor, English or French. As you are speak‐
ing, if you plan to alternate from one language to the other, you will
need also to switch the interpretation channel so that it aligns with
the language you're speaking. You want to allow for a short pause
when you're switching languages. When you're not speaking, your
mike should be on mute.

I'd like to welcome our second panel of witnesses.

From Air Canada we have Mr. Ferio Pugliese, senior vice-presi‐
dent, Air Canada Express and government relations; and Dr. Jim
Chung, chief medical officer.

From Air Transat we have Mr. Howard Liebman, senior director,
government and community affairs; and Captain Dave Bourdages,
vice-president, in-flight service and customer experience.

From WestJet we have Jared Mikoch-Gerke, manager, aviation
and security.

We will start with statements. Each group will have 10 minutes
to make a statement.

Air Canada, we will start with you. You have 10 minutes. Go
ahead, please.

Mr. Ferio Pugliese (Senior Vice-President, Air Canada Ex‐
press and Government Relations, Air Canada): Good afternoon,
Chair and members of the standing committee. Thanks for allowing
us the opportunity to be here this afternoon with you. Given this is
the Standing Committee on Health, I trust everyone is well and
safe.

My name is Ferio Pugliese. I am the senior vice-president of
government relations and Air Canada Express at Air Canada. I am
pleased to join you here to discuss the Canadian response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. I am joined by my colleague, Dr. Jim Chung,
who is Air Canada’s chief medical officer. He and I will try to di‐
vide our time with opening remarks and then be available to answer
your questions.

As we all know, the impact of the pandemic has been unprece‐
dented. Not only has this novel disease negatively affected the

health of individuals, cities and countries, it has also ground
economies to a halt, undermined trade relationships, closed borders
and reduced passenger travel between countries in a way that many
of us never thought possible. At this stage, Air Canada has had a
front row seat in all of this.

As Air Canada followed the disease in China in late 2019 and
early 2020, we began to see travel demand between the two coun‐
tries drop significantly. This forced us to cut back service to China
at a significant cost. In fact, we were one of the first North Ameri‐
can airlines to do so. Continued monitoring of the World Health Or‐
ganization’s daily reports and those of our health partner BlueDot
made us realize that the situation was more dire than many cared to
admit.

As cases of COVID-19 began to appear outside China and with
little information about the nature of the disease, Air Canada’s ex‐
ecutive team made the decision to cease all operations to China,
following a travel advisory issued by the Government of Canada.
This took place on January 29, 2020, one full day before the World
Health Organization declared a public health emergency of interna‐
tional concern, and well before the WHO declared a pandemic on
March 11, 2020. It's important to note that Chinese carriers contin‐
ued to operate to Canada during this period.

Over the course of February, we saw air travel demand drop by
even larger numbers, with cancellations of existing bookings in‐
creasing in lockstep. Our sector was unique in that we were wit‐
nessing and feeling the economic impact ahead of almost any other
industry or sector, except for maybe hotels and tour operators, and
well before the pandemic declaration.

In addition to this fear-induced drop in demand, governments
around the world began to impose travel restrictions and border clo‐
sures that would physically limit travel options. By mid-March,
easily one of the busiest air travel periods of the year, our opera‐
tions were a fraction of what they had been the year prior, and
worse, domestic and international advance bookings were almost
zero.

Sadly, after 10 years of growth and recognition as one of the best
airlines in the world, Air Canada was reduced to 5% of operations
year over year, essentially a 95% reduction. As a result, we made
the difficult but necessary choice to lay off over 20,000 employees,
more than 50% of our workforce, and reduce our global network
from 220 destinations to 46.

Given that Canadian border restrictions and quarantine policies
remain in place, there is little hope of a near-term recovery, al‐
though we are taking steps to rebuild our network and continue to
lobby to lift these restrictions.
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Even as our day-to-day operations were being scaled back, we
took steps to assist in the national effort to combat the crisis by do‐
ing what we do best: fly people and cargo. In March and April, in
collaboration with Global Affairs Canada, we repatriated more than
300,000 Canadians through our regularly scheduled flights and spe‐
cially arranged repatriation flights. In total, we operated 21 dedicat‐
ed repatriation flights. Our crews deserve our thanks.

To quote Minister Champagne, “Air Canada played a vital role in
bringing thousands of our fellow Canadians home." I want to thank
them on the public record for their tireless effort, compassion, dedi‐
cation and professionalism during these demanding missions.

In addition to repatriating Canadians, Air Canada took steps to
scale our cargo operations and assist in strengthening the supply
chain to secure equipment for the health network.
● (1330)

Since the end of March, we have operated more than 1,500 of
these cargo-only flights and transported hundreds of tonnes of med‐
ical equipment. It is important to note that cargo also plays a criti‐
cal role in the global economy and our own national economy.

At this stage, Air Canada is in recovery mode. We're learning
how to deal with this disease. We are not only taking steps to ad‐
dress COVID-19 concerns, but also working with domestic and in‐
ternational partners to ensure that air travel continues to be a safe
alternative for travel. In conjunction with world health organiza‐
tions and authorities, many countries like France, Germany, Portu‐
gal, Japan and Australia are now implementing plans to reopen bor‐
ders to bring back trade and tourism to their economies.

Air Canada alone contributes $50 billion to the Canadian econo‐
my through these activities, to say nothing of the entities in the sup‐
ply chain. Canada, we believe, now needs to work with stakehold‐
ers to urgently take steps to reopen its borders, ease travel restric‐
tions and quarantine requirements, both domestically and interna‐
tionally, in a very measured and prudent fashion. Otherwise, our
sector and the Canadian economy would suffer far longer than they
need to.

I will stop my remarks there and turn the floor over to my col‐
league, Dr. Jim Chung.
[Translation]

Dr. Jim Chung (Chief Medical Officer, Air Canada): Thank
you.

Good afternoon, everyone.
[English]

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to speak on perhaps
the most defining health issue of our lifetime.

As Air Canada's chief medical officer, I oversee all aspects of Air
Canada's health policies and from day one have been directly in‐
volved with both Air Canada and the International Air Transport
Association medical advisory group's response to the COVID-19
pandemic. As stated earlier, Air Canada had an early view into the
pandemic and was very concerned with the trajectory of the disease
in early January 2020.

This insight was partly due to our partnership with BlueDot. In
April 2019, we entered into a partnership with a small Toronto-
based artificial intelligence infectious disease analytics and surveil‐
lance company, because we recognized the importance of early dis‐
ease surveillance and the impact it has on the aviation industry.
BlueDot assists Air Canada in predicting when and what stations
will be affected in any given outbreak, allowing us to plan accord‐
ingly with early warning.

With the benefit of this partnership, and in the absence of a sin‐
gle measure that can achieve high levels of risk reduction, Air
Canada took the alternative approach of using a combination of
biosafety measures to mitigate the risk of COVID-19, as far as
practical, at the earlier stages of the pandemic. In addition to limit‐
ing travel to COVID-19 hot spots in those early stages, we focused
on our front-line crew and customers. Working with our unions and
crew, crew were provided with masks, and our check-in, boarding
procedures and on-board service process was redesigned to reduce
and minimize interaction with customers in order to reduce risk for
both groups.

As the pandemic continued to spread and we realized that this
was not a short-term problem, we further redesigned our customer
experience to enhance our existing health systems, such as ad‐
vanced HEPA filters on aircraft, which refresh air every several
minutes and capture 99.9% of airborne pathogens.

In consultation with other medical experts, we introduced the Air
Canada CleanCare+ program, a first of its kind in the industry and
certainly in Canada. This program utilizes electrostatic sprayers;
provides customers, in addition to staff, with masks, gloves and
hand sanitizer in a kit; scans customers for temperature, a policy
that has been recently adopted by the federal government; and fur‐
ther minimizes direct contact between staff and customers during
the travel experience.

While no one single measure is a sure way to prevent acquiring
COVID-19, the use of multiple layers of these measures certainly
does reduce the probability that one might be exposed to the virus
during travel.

As the world continues to adjust to the new normal, air carriers
are also adopting new measures to ensure that air travel, with its
benefits, can once again begin to operate safely and throughout the
world. While border restrictions might have assisted efforts in con‐
taining the spread early on, both the WHO and PHAC acknowledge
that it's not a guaranteed way to eliminate the risk.
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Today, with a better understanding of COVID-19, we are able to
better manage these risks, and we are seeing countries around the
world adopt new measures and reopen their borders. Such emerging
technologies include digital contact tracing, which the federal gov‐
ernment and Ontario are soon to roll out in the form of an app, digi‐
tal AI technology capturing contactless vital signs, and expanded
and new testing technology. In fact, Air Canada is looking at cut‐
ting-edge Canadian technology that can screen customers for
COVID-19 at airports and would further reduce the possibility that
customers can spread the virus aboard aircraft.

The key to using these technologies is partnership with the feder‐
al government. The reality is that COVID-19 will continue to circu‐
late in our communities to some degree and won't be fully con‐
trolled until a vaccine is developed and rolled out in mass quanti‐
ties. I sense that there is a false belief that COVID-19 will be eradi‐
cated with current measures. It will not. We can only continue to
minimize risk and cases in this environment.

Our goal should be to reopen the economy while putting in place
measures to limit the spread and limit outbreaks. We are working to
make air travel as safe as it can be in this environment for our cus‐
tomers and staff so that we can welcome Canadians back on our
aircraft and help them to do business, visit friends and family and
explore the corners of our country and the world.

Thank you.
● (1335)

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Chung.

We go now to Air Transat.

Mr. Liebman or Captain Bourdages, please go ahead for 10 min‐
utes.

Mr. Howard Liebman (Senior Director, Government and
Community Affairs, Air Transat): Thank you very much, Mr.
Chair and honourable members of the committee.
[Translation]

My name is Howard Liebman. I am the senior director of gov‐
ernment and community affairs at Transat, and I represent Air
Transat.

With me today to help in answering your questions is Cap‐
tain Dave Bourdages, vice-president of in‑flight service and cus‐
tomer experience at Air Transat. Captain Bourdages is our airline
operational lead in dealing with the COVID‑19 emergency and re‐
covery efforts.
[English]

Transat is a leading integrated international tourism company
specializing in holiday travel, founded in 1987. It offers vacation
packages, hotel stays and air travel under the Transat and Air
Transat brands to some 60 destinations in the Americas and Europe.
Transat is firmly committed to sustainable tourism development, as
reflected in its multiple corporate responsibility initiatives over the
past 12 years, and was the first tour operator to be awarded Trav‐
elife certification, in 2018.

Based in Montreal, the company has approximately 5,000 em‐
ployees, of which a high point of 85% were forced to be laid off as

a result of the crisis. Air Transat is the second-largest operator of
international passenger airline services in Canada, with a fleet of 40
large commercial airliners. Our core market and business strategy
are based on a point-to-point international flight network, primarily
in the leisure travel segment, and that has been decimated by the
crisis.

I respectfully remind the honourable members of this committee
that air transport is a vital component of our national transportation
infrastructure and a locomotive for the Canadian economy. Avia‐
tion-enabled travel and tourism facilitate and support over one mil‐
lion jobs in every region of our country, far more than any other in‐
dustry in the private sector. This critical part of our national econo‐
my has suffered the brunt of the economic harm brought on by the
pandemic, and without robust government support and a focused
strategy for reopening borders, it will suffer irreparable harm. In
short, there is no national economic recovery without aviation and
tourism actively helping to propel it forward.

I would now like to briefly share with you the details of our com‐
pany's operational response to COVID-19 and the severe financial
stress that the pandemic is placing on our business. I will also out‐
line our plans going forward as we prepare for a safe, smart and
measured restart.

With the onset of the pandemic in Canada in mid-March and the
swift government pronouncement of international travel restrictions
on non-essential travel, travel bans and quarantine measures, com‐
plemented by provincial orders closing businesses, Transat moved
quickly into a repatriation operation. Air Transat flights operated
during the last two weeks of March were mainly intended for the
repatriation of Transat customers back to Canada or their country of
origin.

While sales and revenues completely collapsed, we operated
hundreds of previously scheduled and special flight segments at a
cost of tens of millions of dollars, most of them departing Canada
empty, ultimately repatriating some 65,000 clients home in a period
of just two weeks. We also partnered with Global Affairs to operate
six dedicated repatriation charter flights. Additionally, Transat do‐
nated supplies of PPE—namely, 44,000 masks and 300,000 pairs of
gloves—to the Quebec government on April 2 to assist with the ur‐
gent supply needs in our communities at the time.
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Unique among today's panel, Transat suspended all of our flights
and operations completely as of April 1 in the face of Canadian and
worldwide travel restrictions and border closures to non-essential
travel, and the resulting unprecedented revenue collapse and ongo‐
ing market uncertainty, to preserve our liquidities and protect the
long-term viability of our business. Ours is a highly capital- and
labour-intensive industry, and our commercial planning and strate‐
gy were never intended to deal with such extreme market condi‐
tions. We were certainly not alone in this respect.

As a resilient 33-year-old company that has successfully weath‐
ered many challenges and storms in the past, we took action. In
March, we drew down on a $50-million revolving credit facility.
Senior executives and the board have voluntarily reduced compen‐
sation ranging from 10% to 20%. The retirement of all of our Air‐
bus A310 aircraft from our fleet occurred in March.

● (1340)

As mentioned earlier, 85% of our staff had been laid off. Howev‐
er, on April 16, Air Transat took advantage of the emergency wage
subsidy, which was extended to all of our laid-off staff. We are ac‐
tively renegotiating contracts with suppliers and aircraft lessors.

As noted, the travel and tourism industry are most directly and
severely impacted by the pandemic. Consequently, the UN World
Tourism Organization has issued a call on governments and interna‐
tional organizations to include travel and tourism as a priority in re‐
covery plans. In Canada, leading travel and tourism organizations
formed the Canadian travel and tourism round table, now joined by
business leaders beyond our industry, which has called on the fed‐
eral and provincial governments to remove travel restrictions as
soon as possible based on established safe restart and recovery pro‐
tocols.

Indeed, the International Civil Aviation Organization recently
published the recommendations of a special state working group,
which includes Canada, that would serve as a road map for its 200
member states for the safe restart of air transportation operations
worldwide. These include protocols that seek to maximize biosecu‐
rity during all aspects of the airport and air travel experience and
minimize the risk of further contagion. Captain Bourdages can pro‐
vide further details, as necessary.

The federal government thereafter established an interdepartmen‐
tal working group of experts, led by Transport Canada, which is
working with industry experts, including Canada's major airlines
and airports, to incorporate these recommendations into a national
plan. It's imperative that this plan be approved for implementation
and that it form the basis of properly risk-managed decisions to be
taken regarding the loosening of non-essential travel restrictions
and quarantine requirements.

Furthermore, we are fully mindful that numerous regions of the
world remain problematic in terms of their infection rate trends,
and the restart must not be a facilitator for the import of this conta‐
gion into our country. This is why many countries are now actively
considering the implementation of safe-to-safe air corridors based
on mutually recognized and robust national restart strategies, ideal‐
ly based on the ICAO harmonized principles.

We strongly urge the federal government to actively pursue a
similar strategy and to immediately initiate bilateral discussions to
this end with Canada's key travel country partners that have shown
sustained improvement in negative infection trends, including the
European Union, the U.K., Mexico and other countries of the
Caribbean and Latin America that have demonstrated minimal in‐
fection rates.

Third, it is essential that consideration by cabinet regarding the
removal of non-essential travel restrictions be fully integrated with
the lessening of quarantine requirements, especially with safe travel
corridor partner countries. Indeed, in the context of restarting and
promoting visitor and tourist travel to Canada, it rapidly becomes a
moot point if we continue to require self-isolation for discretionary
travel. This is a particularly important point for Air Transat, as
mentioned at the outset, as a leisure travel operator.

Fourth, leisure travellers will stay home if they do not have ac‐
cess to insurance that could cover COVID-related illness and treat‐
ment. Insurance companies in Canada are currently denying such
coverage to travellers. Fortunately, it is our understanding from the
insurance industry that this can be remedied by reducing or elimi‐
nating Canada's level 3 global travel advisory to avoid all non-es‐
sential travel, especially with safe corridor countries. We therefore
request Global Affairs Canada to actively undertake to review and
adjust its advisories accordingly, in conjunction with the above-
mentioned safe restart and travel corridor strategies.

Transat is doing its part corporately as well for the health and
safety concerns of our customers by creating Traveller Care, a com‐
prehensive end-to-end program featuring enhanced health and safe‐
ty measures at all points of contact.

On the basis of the above, we have cautiously proceeded to an‐
nounce the gradual resumption of a small percentage of flight and
tour operating activities on July 23, including service to 18 destina‐
tions in Europe and the Caribbean as well as domestic services be‐
tween Montreal, Toronto, Vancouver and Calgary. The success of
these operations will be directly dependent on expeditious govern‐
ment action as requested herein, which in turn will allow for even
more robust services as we move through the summer and into au‐
tumn.

Thank you again for inviting me here today. Captain Bourdages
and I look forward to the discussion.
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● (1345)

[Translation]

Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Liebman.

We will go now to WestJet Airlines.

Mr. Mikoch-Gerke, please go ahead for 10 minutes.
Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke (Manager, Aviation Security, West‐

Jet Airlines Ltd.): Good afternoon and thank you, Mr. Chair and
honourable members of this committee, for the invitation to speak
with you today.

I'm here today to provide the committee with some details on the
operational response to COVID-19 and share with you the safety
measures we have implemented for our people and for our guests.

My name is Jared Mikoch-Gerke, and I'm the manager of avia‐
tion security for the WestJet group of companies. In my capacity, I
serve as a subject matter expert on legislation and regulatory policy
across our global network.

The COVID-19 crisis has had a devastating effect on the global
aviation sector that no country or carrier has been immune to. Prior
to this crisis, WestJet had 14,000 employees operating 700-plus
flights carrying roughly 70,000 guests per day throughout our
growing international network.

As of today, we've had to park two-thirds of our fleet. Our work‐
force has been reduced by 9,000, and we are operating about 100
flights a day carrying less than 10% of the number of guests that we
normally would have. We haven't flown a scheduled flight to the
United States or international locations since March 23. While we
believe that we have now entered what we are calling the stability
phase of this crisis, we don't anticipate a true recovery to pre-
COVID levels until 2022.

Later in my comments, I hope to impart some considerations for
the committee on how we can collectively work together on recov‐
ery efforts.

What has been highlighted by this crisis, however, is the stead‐
fast reminder that commercial aviation is an essential service and a
crucial element of critical infrastructure, which is now more than
ever important for the transportation of critical workers and goods.
While we are operating a reduced schedule, we have remained
committed to serving every market in Canada that we did prior to
this crisis, and we have increased our cargo capacity to transport
critical medical goods and PPE. Safety above all is paramount to
us, and we have been unwavering in our commitment to ensuring
the safety of our employees and guests during these challenging
times.

We have continuously evolved our response throughout this cri‐
sis, and right from the outset we took actions to ensure that our peo‐
ple were protected right across the organization. At our head office
here in Calgary, at the beginning of this crisis we seamlessly moved
all our employees who are not operationally critical to working re‐
motely. For those who were needed in our office space, we imple‐

mented physically spaced workstations and made available hand
sanitizer, disinfecting wipes, gloves and masks for all employees.
We further implemented enhanced frequent cleaning of all high-
touch points and fogging of our office spaces.

In our operations control centre, we have 24-7 cleaners embed‐
ded, who are continually cleaning high-touch areas and providing
fresh desks for shift change. For our technical operations team,
we've provided them all the necessary PPE, along with half- and
full-face respirators. We implemented temperature checks for all
personnel, to be recorded on arrival to work, and we require that
face masks be worn when unable to socially distance during main‐
tenance tasks. We have increased the sterilization and cleaning of
all work areas and touch points.

For our airports and in-flight teams, we provided gloves, masks,
disposable gowns, safety glasses, face shields and hand sanitizer.
We implemented enhanced surface and lavatory cleaning on board
our aircraft, and we have dedicated a lavatory for crew members
where possible. We modified our crew accommodations practices
and have assigned crew to in-terminal hotels, where possible, to
prevent the need for transportation. In airports, we worked closely
with our airport partners to ensure enhanced cleaning of any com‐
mon-use areas, and we have increased our cleaning frequency of
major touch-point areas of service.

To date, we have had 29 employees who have tested positive for
COVID-19. We are thankful that none had serious health complica‐
tions and the majority have since recovered completely.

I want to take this opportunity to provide our thanks and give
enormous appreciation to all WestJet front-line workers, who have
risen to the challenge and continue to provide their exemplary car‐
ing, friendly and compassionate guest service in the face of this cri‐
sis.

For our guests, we recognized right away that it is critical we
make sure they feel safe when travelling with us. Regardless of
why our guests are flying, whether it be reporting for work as need‐
ed or to be with a sick loved one, we exceeded the health measures
recommended and, on our own accord, implemented a very rigor‐
ous and consistent approach to their health and safety.

We worked collaboratively with Transport Canada on the quick
implementation of all orders in council and emergency orders for
the implementation of a health questionnaire and consistent obser‐
vations of any ill guests and, more recently, the requirement for
guests and crew members to wear masks at all times during travel.
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● (1350)

In addition to these requirements, we implemented seat blocking
to provide social distancing on board our aircraft during the most
critical months of this crisis. We enhanced the cleaning of our air‐
craft to include disinfection of all guest contact surfaces and includ‐
ed electrostatic fogging of every aircraft during overnight stops and
on long turns in our hub cities.

We implemented temperature checks for all guests in alignment
with the WHO standards and provided them with disinfectant wipes
during boarding to allow them to personally wipe down their areas
as they chose. We also modified our food and beverage service to
reduce touch points by removing service on short flights and pro‐
viding guests with individually packaged goods on board for longer
flights, and we removed all non-essential seatback literature.

Each of our aircraft is equipped with hospital-grade HEPA filters
that capture over 99.99% of all contaminants, including coron‐
aviruses, and the cabin air is fully refreshed every six minutes. We
truly believe that Canadian aviation has led the way internationally
in the implementation of an industry-leading biosecurity plan.

The safety of our guests and employees is without hesitation our
top priority. In addition to the physical measures we have taken, we
have committed to being open and transparent throughout this
rapidly evolving situation. We were the only airline in Canada to
publicly share, directly on our website and through our social chan‐
nels, flights that were identified by the Public Health Agency of
Canada as having a positive case on board. We specified the affect‐
ed rows, which are considered close contact and may be at risk of
exposure.

Any aircraft where an individual was identified as displaying
symptoms, or that was determined to have had a positive case on
board, was removed from service to have a full, detailed cleaning
and disinfection, along with replacement of the HEPA filter. There
has not been a single case of COVID-19 transmission on board a
commercial flight. This is a true testament to the sterile environ‐
ment on board aircraft and the enhanced disinfection and health
measures that have been put in place since this crisis began.

The aviation industry is unbelievably resilient and adaptable.
When border closures started to transpire, we were able to quickly
stand down and rightsize our business for the incredible downturn
that occurred. The restart and recovery, though, is much more com‐
plex and has many incumbent challenges. Our first priority was en‐
suring that we have consistent and scalable health measures in
place to ensure the safety of our crew and our guests, which we do.
We are fully compliant with the report recommendations of the In‐
ternational Civil Aviation Organization council's aviation recovery
task force, or CART.

As we look towards recovery, we require the support of all levels
and departments of government to utilize the measures that we have
taken as part of a plan to reopen commercial aviation and reinstill
consumer confidence. We need to work towards a national strategy
and eliminate inconsistent provincial border restrictions to allow for
the free movement of Canadians across the country.

We also believe that it is in Canada's interest to develop bilateral
or multilateral agreements on sterile corridors and remove quaran‐

tine requirements on these routes. These would be routes between
international locations that have done an effective job in controlling
COVID-19, similar to the discussions occurring on the trans-Tas‐
man bubble between Australia and New Zealand, or what has oc‐
curred for travel within the EU.

We are confident that we are well prepared for Canadians to re‐
turn to travel safely. We are now calling on government to help do
so and to develop a scalable plan for reopening. As more important
elements, such as effective testing and contact tracing, become
available, we stand ready to assist and implement further measures
that come with reduced travel restrictions as we all adapt to our
new normal.

Thank you for your time. I look forward to your questions and
further discussion.

● (1355)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Mikoch-Gerke.

We go now to our questions. We will do two rounds of questions,
and we will start the first round with Mr. Doherty.

Mr. Doherty, please go ahead for six minutes.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank our colleagues for being here. Having had a 22-
year career in aviation, it's always great to talk with fellow aviation
geeks. I guess that's what we would call ourselves.

I do want to start by saying that the last few months have been
extremely difficult for the airline industry. It has been incredibly
difficult for me, as a former aviation executive, to sit and listen to
some of the things I've been hearing. Sadly, I get the impression
from some of my colleagues that they feel we can just flip a switch
and our sector will rebound.

I am heartened to hear the comments such as from Howard, at
Air Transat, as well as you, Jared, from WestJet. This is a vital
component of our national economy. We need to do everything in
our power to start looking now for a plan and to start developing
that plan to reopen our doors and our borders and get our planes
flying. That starts at the top.

I'm going to direct this question to Dr. Chung. I'm not sure
whether you're familiar with it, but last week the minister respond‐
ed to a question by my colleague: “Minister, would I be more or
less likely to acquire coronavirus at Pearson Airport or Union Sta‐
tion, in your opinion?” I'll paraphrase, because the blues don't accu‐
rately capture what the minister said, but the video is clear as day.
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The minister said that in his opinion the whole airline or aviation
experience—from arriving at the airport, to checking in, to board‐
ing the aircraft, to flying and then picking up your luggage—is
more dangerous, and that you're more susceptible to contract
COVID.

Dr. Chung, would you agree or disagree with that?
● (1400)

[Translation]
Dr. Jim Chung: Thank you for your question. I will answer it in

English.

[English]

What I can say is that we have taken every measure possible to
mitigate the risk of acquiring COVID throughout the entire journey.
This includes the process of checking through the airport; the wear‐
ing of a mask, even at the arrival at the airport; the reduction of per‐
sonnel allowed into the airport unless they have a verified boarding
pass; the separation and proper social distancing within the airport;
boarding by zones, from the back to the front; handing out protec‐
tive gear, including hand sanitizer, wipes and masks; and the man‐
dating of wearing masks throughout the flight.

As my colleagues at WestJet have noted as well, the frequent air
exchange is at the hospital OR-level HEPA filtration; and even on
arrival, all the sanitation measures are in place. With that cascade or
multi-layer risk mitigation, we feel that we have reduced the risk as
significantly as possible with respect to the journey.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Earlier in the process, with one stroke of the
pen, airline and airport staff were immediately thrust to the front
lines of the fight against COVID and its spread.

At any time, were the airlines provided with personal protective
equipment and/or temperature screening?

I'll open that up to the three carriers.
Mr. Ferio Pugliese: I'm going to ask Jim to comment further on

that because he has some insight.
Dr. Jim Chung: Sure.

Could you just clarify that question? Do you mean the provision
of PPE for our crew?

Mr. Todd Doherty: Yes. For front-line airports and air crew, was
PPE provided to the airlines at any time by the government?

Dr. Jim Chung: Specifically, did the government provide us
with PPE? Is that the question?

Mr. Todd Doherty: Yes.
Dr. Jim Chung: When we noted the outbreak, we quickly imple‐

mented measures to protect our own employees and customers. We
provided them with personal protective equipment, including facial
masks, and adjusted our service specifications and reviewed our
check-in procedures and boarding procedures. We introduced new
standards for protection and cleaning.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Would you say the government was initially
slow to react?

Dr. Jim Chung: It's probably not in my area to comment on that
other than to say we were all learning. This was relatively new.
There's no manual or playbook for this.

Mr. Todd Doherty: Okay.

Could you tell me how many Air Canada employees contracted
COVID?

Dr. Jim Chung: For reasons of privacy, we can't really get into
numbers. Having said that, consistent with our WestJet colleagues,
we thankfully have had no fatalities. The numbers are consistent
with the Canadian public at large.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Doherty. You have two seconds left,
but I'm going to cut you off.

We go now to Dr. Powlowski for six minutes.

Mr. Marcus Powlowski (Thunder Bay—Rainy River, Lib.): I
love travelling and I trust that in future years I will fly many times
with all of your airlines. All of your companies have been extreme‐
ly responsible corporate citizens, and certainly you all seem to play
a role in our national response to the pandemic in repatriating peo‐
ple and transporting essential goods like PPE, and you all ought to
be commended for this.

I also want to acknowledge the fact that you're all taking a big
financial hit. I know it has been an existential threat to the airline
industry, given that we practically have no one flying.

That said, Mr. Pugliese, and I think all of you have said that you
have to be prudent as you reopen and start flying again, I'm think‐
ing that we may not want to open all routes as quickly. For some
routes like Toronto to Thunder Bay—and I'm the member of Parlia‐
ment for Thunder Bay—Thunder Bay has very few COVID-19 cas‐
es, with maybe two cases a week, whereas metropolitan Toronto
obviously has a lot more.

When the airlines were going full bore, about 1,000 people were
going in and out between Thunder Bay and Toronto. Even though a
lot of people in Thunder Bay have taken a big hit, such as the peo‐
ple who run restaurants, who have had to close down, we haven't
had a hit because we haven't had that many cases. If we start open‐
ing these routes again, the hospital is potentially suddenly going to
face a lot more difficulties, as will the first nations communities
further up north, which are at high risk because Thunder Bay is that
hub. I'm not sure we want to open Thunder Bay to Toronto.

That said, how about opening more routes between safe destina‐
tions? Places like Thunder Bay have pretty low rates; Newfound‐
land has fairly low rates and Manitoba and B.C. have low rates.
There are currently no routes flying, for example, from Thunder
Bay to St. John's or Winnipeg to St. John's. I think there was also
mention made of international connections between safe destina‐
tions.
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Is each airline potentially contemplating opening those kinds of
routes, establishing new routes, to get going quickly?
● (1405)

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: My airline colleagues, I'll take a stab at that
one first and pass it around for others' thoughts.

That's a very good question. I have a few things to say in re‐
sponse. First and foremost, when we refer to prudent and safe mea‐
sures, it's not just about unlocking the economy and travel without
having safe measures in place that do two things in particular. One,
first and foremost, is to ensure the health, safety and well-being of
the travelling public. We're very good at that. We're in the safety
business and the risk management business. That's what we do in
aviation, and I would even speak on behalf of many of our tourism
colleagues and the work they do. They do the same. Health and
safety is priority one, and we need to have measures in place.

The prudent measures then include our adoption of what we
know are proven measures around the world today when do open
up. We know that elements like PPE; social distancing, where ap‐
propriate; thermal scanning, which is now in place in airports with
temperature checks; and contact tracing and even testing as tech‐
nologies start to evolve, these are the things to watch. What health
authorities and aviation organizations around the world are adopt‐
ing for opening their economies, we, too, need to be adapting and
adjusting to that in Canada. I would just say that it needs to move at
a better pace than it has thus far.

That takes me to the second thing, because there are really five
things that happen today that are confusing the level of travel. We
have no foreign nationals allowed into the country. We have blanket
advisories on avoiding travel at all costs. These have been mes‐
sages that have been put out. The 14-day quarantine rules apply in
some jurisdictions and not others. They apply across Canada, and
we're finding that in other parts of the globe, where prudent and
where they're seeing curves drop and R factors dropping, these are
being lifted. We have closure of air, land, and sea borders. We also
have a host of changes and some confusion across the country
about what provinces we can travel to. A number of those things
need to be fleshed out, but in order to do that, we're suggesting that
we would come forward and put together measures, and we have
safe measures to allow people to travel and transit through airports
and onto the aircraft in a safe fashion.

To your other question, giving thought to and contemplating
where to travel, we would be very much in support of saying no.
We look at opening up international borders, transborder with the
United States, and even within Canada in places we know are low
risk. If we were to look at connections around the world, we might
look at countries where they've seen a declining curve and where
they've taken safe, prudent measures to open their economies. Why
not partner with them, and why is Canada not on the list of those
countries to reopen?

These are the sorts of measures and our lens as to how we would
look at reopening. That's what I mean about measured and prudent.

I'll stop and allow my colleagues to comment.
● (1410)

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Powlowski. Your time's up.

We go now to M. Thériault.

M. Thériault, go ahead for six minutes, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Thériault, you have six minutes.
Mr. Luc Thériault: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Gentlemen, thank you for your presentations. They have enlight‐
ened us about the impact of this crisis on air transportation.

On May 28, the Quebec National Assembly unanimously passed
a motion asking the following of the Canadian government:

That the National Assembly ask the Canadian government to order airlines and
other carriers under federal jurisdiction to allow customers whose trips were
cancelled due to the current pandemic to obtain a refund.

Obviously, that did not convince the federal government.

Were you required to provide written evidence or demonstrate to
the government that there would be catastrophic effects if cus‐
tomers who requested a refund were paid back?

[English]
Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Mr. Chair, we value the feedback we

are receiving from all guests and appreciate how difficult this un‐
precedented situation is for all.

As the CTA noted in the April 22 clarification, airlines tariffs do
not always provide for cash refunds, especially in cases beyond our
control. WestJet believes refunding with travel credits is an appro‐
priate and responsible approach in extraordinary circumstances
such as the COVID-19 crisis.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Thériault: Where is that money right now? It is under‐

stood that the money does not belong to you since no transaction
has taken place.

[English]
Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Maybe I'll underscore the fact that these

vouchers that exist are non-refundable vouchers that the customers
have purchased. What's important to note is that, and I'll speak on
behalf of Air Canada, we've reimbursed over a billion dollars in re‐
fundable tickets back to the travelling public. Those reimburse‐
ments have been issued.

In addition to that, we've also made modifications post-pandemic
to our travel policies whereby we are allowing the vouchers to not
expire but also be carried forward, and be transitioned and trans‐
ferred into Aeroplan equity points. We've done that, and we've
made those adjustments retroactive to March.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Thériault: I see that our conversation about this will

not be a quick one.

You have come to tell us that you want the borders reopened and
travel restrictions and quarantine measures relaxed. But we know
that 50% of community spread comes from individuals who are not
showing, or have yet to show, any symptoms.
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You say you can guarantee safe travel, but the mere fact of trav‐
elling carries a risk of spread. You say that you can open corridors
in countries where infection rates are acceptable or low, but you
still need to know whether these countries have adequate detection
and screening.

Detection is certainly essential and I will give you an example.
At the beginning of the crisis, we focused on mainland China,
which had already put measures in place. But many people from
Quebec went to Europe and when they came back, Quebec ended
up having quite a few more cases than elsewhere in Canada.

So what is your plan and how can you ensure that reopening bor‐
ders and easing travel restrictions and quarantine measures will still
allow us to deal with a second wave of the virus?
● (1415)

[English]
Dr. Jim Chung: These are just my thoughts on that. Firstly, at

the initial outbreak of this pandemic, there was not a lot of informa‐
tion, unfortunately. We're learning as we go along, quite frankly.
Where we are now with the knowledge of COVID-19, its pathogen‐
esis, essentially its incubation period, the fact that there is a per‐
centage of asymptomatic and presymptomatic carriers and the po‐
tential spread are some things that we didn't know early on in Jan‐
uary and February.

Having said that, the work for opening up the borders, that's not
done by me alone. I would certainly not make that determination.
That would be done in consultation. That would be driven by gov‐
ernment, participating with all the stakeholders, including the avia‐
tion industry and Canadians in general, on determining what those
factors are that would minimize the risk as much as possible.

I know that it's not going to be zero, but we need to minimize the
risk as much as possible, be that setting up certain measures for the
other country in terms of its case rate, its positive infection rate, the
number of tests they do per capita, etc. These factors would really
have to be worked on and determined, but that would be in collabo‐
ration with all stakeholders, including government, the public and
the aviation sector.

[Translation]
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Thériault.

[English]

We'll go now to Mr. Davies.

Mr. Davies, please go ahead, for six minutes.
Mr. Don Davies: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for taking time out of what I know
is a very busy time for you to be with us today.

Recently the CEOs of Air Canada, WestJet and Air Transat
signed an open letter to the Prime Minister and the premiers that
said, among other things:

The mandatory 14-day quarantine and complete closure of our country to all vis‐
itors from abroad is no longer necessary and is out of step with other countries
across the globe.

Given that Canada's chief public health officer, Dr. Theresa Tam,
has called the mandatory 14-day quarantine period of all interna‐
tional arrivals “a cornerstone” of federal pandemic policy, I'm just
wondering what your response to that would be. Is Dr. Tam wrong?

Any one of the three airlines can answer.

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: I'll start, and maybe ask Dr. Chung to com‐
ment as well, and others.

I don't suggest it's wrong, but I guess when we look at that, as we
assess it, we look at other parts of the world. In fact, even in
Canada, you have medical officers and medical directors within
provinces who have lifted the 14-day quarantine. This only leads us
to preclude that we're probably at a state in time, unless the curve in
these various places is still running rampant—and we know that
you have—

The Chair: Mr. Pugliese, could you hold up your mike, please,
or get closer to the mike?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Unless we know there is a high-risk area. I
mean we're seeing parts of the globe on an ongoing basis, and, like
you said, even here within Canada, where the 14-day quarantine
measures are being lifted.

I'm not here to disagree with Dr. Tam, I'm not a doctor, but there
are several doctors and medical practitioners around the world who
are making contrary decisions in cases where they're seeing mea‐
sured approaches to reducing the curve, the contact, and the
caseload, and where that happens we should allow it to open.

● (1420)

Mr. Don Davies: If I might ask, where in Canada are we releas‐
ing the 14-day quarantine period?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: There are provinces within Canada that
don't have a 14-day quarantine period.

Mr. Don Davies: Okay.

I'm not sure who it was, but someone believed we're entering a
“stability phase”.

I agree with all of the comments that have been made that we are
feeling our way through this pandemic, that there is no guidebook,
but I think it's becoming fairly obvious that countries that have seen
a reduction in their cases and have relaxed their approaches are
starting to see flare-ups. We've seen them in Australia and New
Zealand. They are happening in over 25 states in the U.S. It seems
possible that when we think we can relax our standards, we may be
actually walking into a second phase. Dr. Bonnie Henry of British
Columbia has stated repeatedly there has never been a pandemic in
history that did not have a second wave.

Given that the airlines are clearly requesting relaxation on a
number of fronts, are you not concerned we may be walking into
another flare-up, and if so how would you respond to that?

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Mr. Chair, I'll take a stab at that
question, and then I'll pass it along to my colleagues as well.
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I think collectively, as an industry, our primary objective is to en‐
sure the health and safety of our people and the travelling public.
As we've seen, this is a very complicated and evolving crisis and
the 14-day quarantine is a challenging component of the industry
restart. Going forward, I think what we would be looking for is to
continue to seek alignment with standards and guidance from inter‐
nationally recognized bodies and move towards the easing of re‐
strictions in a prudent and calculated manner.

One of your questions was about how many provinces have
eased their 14-day quarantines. Within Canada alone, if we look at
provincial restrictions, we have about half of the provinces across
Canada that don't have 14-day quarantines for intracountry travel. I
think as a first step what we certainly want to look towards is a con‐
sistent national strategy on how we open up the country to Canadi‐
an travellers. From there I think it will give us a good opportunity
to assess what the impact will be. I think we're all highly concerned
about a second wave. That's something we're certainly aware of,
but we're implementing all of these health measures to try to reduce
that as best possible. We just have to have a calculated strategy re‐
port.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

If I could just stay with WestJet, you made a reference to your
adoption of seat blocking during the critical phase. I take it that was
to comply with the guidelines on physical distancing. Are you still
seat blocking, and if not, could you provide your rationale for why
not, and if you are, why you are continuing to do so?

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: With respect to spacing in the cabin
and seat blocking, that was a measure that we undertook of our own
accord. It was not because we were regulated to do so or had any
means to do so. We did take it as an interim measure. We have al‐
ways said that it might not be permanent, but in the midst of the cri‐
sis, we made the decision to provide some distancing inside the
cabin.

As we continue to move through the crisis, we're going to contin‐
ually look toward the current industry guidance and international
guidance, and we will continually review all of our policies, includ‐
ing this one, on a regular basis.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

To Air Canada, at the end of May, you announced that you would
no longer use the federal government's emergency wage subsidy
and instead opted to lay off about 20,000 staff, including flight at‐
tendants, mechanics and customer service agents. Can you explain
to us why your airline made that decision?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Yes, I can answer that question.

I just want to clarify as well, with regard to your previous ques‐
tion, that when I mentioned the 14-day quarantine, as Jared men‐
tioned, I was referring to interprovincial travel within Canada.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

Can I just clarify that too? I think it's an important point. Are we
talking intercountry or intracountry?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: It's intracountry, so travelling province to
province, but Canada itself as a whole has a 14-day quarantine—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.

● (1425)

Mr. Don Davies: Mr. Chair, could the witness just briefly an‐
swer the question that I asked him? I think he clarified and he did
want to add something to explain why Air Canada made the deci‐
sion, so I'll ask him for a brief answer to that.

The Chair: Answer very quickly, please.

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Yes, I can answer that, and it's not because I
didn't want to answer the question. I wanted to clarify your previ‐
ous question, so hopefully that—

Mr. Don Davies: I realize that.

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Thank you.

I think what is important to know is that we still have a thousand
people who are on the CEWS program.

As for the CEWS program, we chose to not continue with it be‐
cause of the shutdown of the borders and the decline in our busi‐
ness. Essentially we're running a 5% business. We can't continue to
employ those people for the long term, and the CEWS program on
its own does not provide adequate relief overall for us to continue
to operate. It's not a free program. There's still an extensive expense
and a cash burn that's associated with it, which comes along with
payroll taxes, pensions and benefit costs.

In addition to that, because we don't see our business recovering
for another three years, it would mean keeping that level of staff on
board knowing that we're not going to be in a recovery position to
sustain that level of staffing in the near term. Hence, we've kept a
thousand on board in anticipation that if the economy does open up
and travel restrictions and border restrictions and quarantine mea‐
sures and so on are eased, by the time we hit the end of this year,
we might see ourselves recouping about 25% of our business,
which would allow us to take those thousand people and put them
back into full-time jobs. Hopefully—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.

We go now to our second round with Mr. Jeneroux.

Mr. Jeneroux, please go ahead for five minutes.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux (Edmonton Riverbend, CPC): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

My questions are for Air Canada to begin with.

Conservatives were pushing for border closure early on for high-
risk areas. What influenced Air Canada's decision to start stopping
flights as early as January, going against the Canadian government
and the WHO's recommendations?
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Mr. Ferio Pugliese: With respect to January, I would say any de‐
cisions that were made early on in the year were largely commer‐
cial in nature. I would say the more pointed changes that we experi‐
enced would have come in late April and into early May, where we
saw the border constraints continuing to be extended, and as a re‐
sult, we suspended our service because traffic had been down sig‐
nificantly. Canadians are able to fly into the United States, but U.S.
passengers are not able to come into Canada, and when they return,
both of those are subject to a 14-day quarantine. That had a hugely
significant down-draft effect on passenger demand.

When you look at the early part of the year, many of those deci‐
sions on the network, if any, would have been commercially relat‐
ed. Later into the second quarter, they were largely COVID-related
as a result of border restrictions being imposed.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: You'd agree with me then that, if the Gov‐
ernment of Canada had closed the borders at the same time that you
stopped taking flights across the border, it would have essentially
had a more significant impact on the number of COVID-19 cases.
Also, in terms of your competitors, it would have encouraged them
to also shut down their flights from other high-risk areas.

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: No, I'm not sure you can conclude that. I
wouldn't say that at all. You're drawing a parallel between the traf‐
fic going back and forth and—if I'm understanding you correctly—
the rate of transmission between the two countries. I don't know if
you can draw a parallel to that.

I would just say that the rationale for our cancelling that service
certainly had to do with the imposition of border restrictions and
travel restrictions.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: It's unfathomable to me that if someone
paid for a service but didn't use it, they would still be charged for
that service.

Air Canada, WestJet, Air Transat, when will you be reimbursing
your customers? We'll start with you, Mr. Liebman.
● (1430)

Mr. Howard Liebman: Thanks for the question.

That was also a question asked of our CEO at our quarterly re‐
sults announcement last week. I want to say there are a couple of
models out there. There's the model of the taxpayer paying or the
model of the user paying. So far in Canada we have not followed
the EU or the U.S. model, which has pumped tens of billions of
dollars into airlines. We are where we are.

I want to say at the outset that we do need help in this regard.
We're not operating. There's no business or industry that can go for
three months with no revenue, no operation, and meet all of its obli‐
gations. I want to say that, in the end, there's a great sensitivity to
the fact that we need our clients. We live and die by our clients and
if we have gotten this far, it shows how grave the situation is for us
and for our industry and that help is needed.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: No one else is quick to jump in.

This goes to Air Canada, WestJet and Air Transat.

Can Air Canada or WestJet...?

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Mr. Chair, I thank the member for
the question.

Again, as I said earlier, we really do appreciate how difficult this
unprecedented situation is for all. We've taken measures to ensure
that we're extending our vouchers beyond expiry. Again, the Cana‐
dian Transportation Agency, when it clarified its statement on
vouchers, noted that airline tariffs do not always provide for cash
refunds, especially in cases beyond our control. We do believe—

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Mr. Chair, I have a point of order. There is no
interpretation into French at the moment.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you. I'll pause your time, Mr. Jeneroux.

Monsieur Mikoch-Gerke, which channel are you on? Are you on
the English channel?

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: I am.

The Chair: Okay. Perhaps you can try that again and we can see
if the translation is working.

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Certainly. I was just reiterating that
the—

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: We can hear you loud and clear now.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Mikoch-Gerke, please restate your response, if you could.

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Certainly.

I'll just reclarify that on April 22, the Canadian Transportation
Agency did clarify its statement on vouchers, noting that airline tar‐
iffs do not always provide for cash refunds, especially in cases be‐
yond our control. We do believe that refunding with travel credits is
an appropriate and responsible approach in extraordinary circum‐
stances such as this.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Jeneroux, you have 10 seconds left. Did you want to ask the
third airline for a response?

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: You read my mind, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Is there anyone who can respond from the other air‐
line?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Yes, I would just echo my colleagues' re‐
sponses. Air Canada has complied with the applicable regulations
as of April 22 and the CTA statements. I'll also reiterate that for re‐
fundable tickets, we issued payment on those as per the tariffs and
the regulations to the tune of $1 billion.
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The Chair: Thank you all.

Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

We'll go now to Ms. Sidhu.

Ms. Sidhu, you have five minutes. Go ahead, please.
Ms. Sonia Sidhu (Brampton South, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.

Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses from the Canadian airline indus‐
try. You brought thousands of Canadians home and delivered PPE
on cargo flights to Canada during the crisis. I commend your ef‐
forts.

The airline industry is interconnected with many other industries.
One of them is airport taxis and limo services. In my riding of
Brampton South, there are many Pearson Airport taxis, limo drivers
and companies such as Aerofleet, AirFlight and Airline Limousine
taxi operators who live in my riding. Our front-line taxi drivers
were working very hard due to COVID-19 during the health crisis,
including some who tragically passed away due to the virus. We
know what they and their families are going through, and I know
more can be done for them.

My question is to all the witnesses. How are airline companies
such as yourselves coordinating with these companies to put in sup‐
port measures for them as you begin to increase the volume of your
services? This question is for all, and we can start with Air Canada.
● (1435)

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Thank you very much to the member for the
question.

We really understand the impact on the tertiary businesses. We
just recently started a tourism round table, which consists of well
over 45 members from the tourism/travel/visitor economy, of which
other forms of transportation are a part. In that, our goal is to work
collectively on how we will support continuous measures among all
of these businesses, because when you look at the impact to the
economy overall, these businesses, combined with our businesses
here around the table, equate to $106 billion of economic output to
Canada. It's not insignificant, but everybody has to be in lockstep
with these measures.

As we start working, we're working with Transport Canada on
our own measures within airports and in air transportation within
the aircraft itself. We are also working with our counterparts within
industry to look at how we support consistent measures, and if
those are measures like PPE, sanitation and so on, these are things
that we will be partnering with them on.

Ms. Sonia Sidhu: Does any other person want to respond? Okay.

My next question is this. I understand there's limited space in air‐
ports, for example, as reflected in lineups for boarding and to re‐
trieve luggage, which may be a complicating factor in resuming
normal air operations, especially in countries that may not have
similar regulations to what we do in Canada. Can you elaborate on
this issue? How is your company working around this in Canada?

Dr. Jim Chung: Maybe I'll take that question.

We recognize that there are multiple points throughout the travel
journey, not only here but internationally, where there may be peri‐
ods when one is unable to maintain social distancing. That's why
there's a multi-layered approach to—

The Chair: Dr. Chung, could you hold up your mike, please?

Dr. Jim Chung: I apologize, Mr. Chair.

That's why we advocate and why all the expert guidance has
been on a multi-layered approach, recognizing that there are peri‐
ods when one will perhaps be unable to maintain social distancing,
hence the other non-pharmaceutical interventions, such as hand hy‐
giene and wearing facial coverings. That's why those other mea‐
sures are just as important.

Ms. Sonia Sidhu: Thank you.

What about Air Canada? Can you explain the CleanCare pro‐
gram, the new safety protocol of flying during COVID-19? Do you
think customers are responding to your program?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: I'll start quickly, just to give you a sense of
the program. CleanCare+ was instituted roughly a month ago. We
were the first airline to introduce the temperature checks and the
wearing of masks. It's essentially designed to ensure that we take
additional measures within the cabin to keep it sterile and clean.
Now everybody who arrives on the aircraft will receive a packet
that contains hand sanitizer, wipes, a mask and gloves. Then, the
aircraft is static-sprayed on every arrival, pre-departure.

There are designated lavatories for crew, as well as for passen‐
gers. All the collateral within the aircraft, where you used to see
things in the seatback and so on, has been removed to prevent any‐
thing from landing on surfaces. That's in addition to the air quality.

Jim, do you want to add anything to that?

● (1440)

Dr. Jim Chung: No, I think you've covered it pretty well, Ferio.

Certainly, just to reiterate, we've instituted a multi-layered ap‐
proach and are also handing out all those non-pharmaceuticals for
intervention, such as masks, the hand sanitizer and the wipes, as
well as other measures, including the electrostatic spraying and the
hygiene in the cabins to ensure that we minimize the risk as much
as possible.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Sidhu. We will go now to Dr.
Kitchen.

Dr. Kitchen, please go ahead for five minutes.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, everybody, for being here.

Mr. Chair, depending on how quickly my answers arrive, I may
share my time with Mrs. Jansen.
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I will try to point out to Air Canada that there has been a lot of
confusion over the directives and advice that have been released by
the Public Health Agency of Canada, and you indicated even today
there were some issues interprovincially. We know there is no legal
obligation for the provinces and territories to provide their health
information to the federal government.

I already know my answer to this, but the reality is.... Has your
organization experienced a lot of confusion or a little bit of confu‐
sion with how you proceed with dealing with the preventative mea‐
sures when we look at things such as the changing answers we get
for wearing masks and taking temperatures, etc.?

Dr. Jim Chung: I can respond to that.

As I said earlier in a previous response, Mr. Chair, there is no
manual for this outbreak. We've been learning as we go along, and
the manual is literally being written. The data and the science have
evolved over time, to the point that it is strongly supportive of fa‐
cial coverings to this point now.

As the data and science evolve, there are multiple stakeholders as
well as different guidances from various organizations. We do fol‐
low that up, as do my colleagues in the other airlines, and try to
find best practices based on all these guidances.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: It would be considered confusing, would
that not be correct, with the various answers?

Dr. Jim Chung: This whole COVID-19 has been somewhat con‐
fusing, essentially. Literally, we're on month six, and I remember
when it started. I was on a beach somewhere when I got my first
notification from BlueDot about this potential SARS-like outbreak
in Wuhan.

It has evolved at lightspeed, and everyone has had to adapt. I'm
sure WestJet and Air Transat have had to adapt to what feels like
lightspeed—

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Thank you, Dr. Chung.

Mr. Mikoch-Gerke, you talked a bit about the standards and the
steps that you've done on cleaning, etc. I just want to touch on one
aspect of it. When I flew back and forth from Ottawa, I ran into a
number of technicians who were saying how clean they keep the
airplanes, etc., with the changing of the HEPA filters, etc., and how
sanitary they are. I do believe that is the case.

You talked about fogging electrostatically. We recognize that
electrostatic fogging is really getting into places where maybe the
cleaners can't get into. My question really comes to another step. I
realize the research is very new, but I'm just wondering if WestJet
has considered ozone technology.

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Mr. Chair, I thank the member for
the question.

I'm not aware. I don't believe we've actually looked at that tech‐
nology at this time. Having said that, we've continued to evolve
what health measures we do have, and if there's better technology
that the epidemiology reflects could be a means of better cleaning
our aircraft, that's certainly something we'll look at as we continue
to evolve and review our policies around the cleaning of the cabins
and other areas.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Mr. Liebman, have you looked at that with
Air Transat?

Mr. Howard Liebman: I'm going to ask my colleague Captain
Bourdages to weigh in, if you don't mind, sir.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Go ahead.
Captain Dave Bourdages (Vice-President, In-Flight Service

and Customer Experience, Air Transat): Thank you for the ques‐
tion.

As our colleagues from WestJet and Air Canada have mentioned,
we're looking at the technology that is available today. We're trying
to base our approach on science and what's out there. Electrostatic
technology is something that's been proven. We are keeping our
eyes and our ears open as to what may come in the future, but we
haven't looked specifically at the ozone technology itself.
● (1445)

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Thank you very much.

I'm going to shift over to Mrs. Jansen for a quick question.
Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Thank you.

I'm going to ask Air Transat.

I have a question from constituents, Paul and Bonnie, who
booked a flight to Rome last July. They were supposed to leave in
August, and it turns out, of course, that all of that has been turned
back as non-refundable. Do I tell them that it's a lack of govern‐
ment support, which you mentioned the U.S. and the EU were giv‐
ing, why this is being put on the backs of individual Canadians?

Mr. Howard Liebman: Thank you for the question.

Just to clarify, we will be flying from Toronto to Rome as of the
end of July, so that's the good news.

More generally, to your question, I want to be very clear. First
and foremost, our industry requires our customers, and we as a
company put our customers first. Each and every one of them re‐
ceived a full future travel credit because of flights being cancelled
due to all these restrictions that the government announced.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Unfortunately, they're not able to use
them because of another issue.

The Chair: Thank you, Mrs. Jansen.

We go now to Mr. Van Bynen.

Mr. Van Bynen, go ahead. You have five minutes.
Mr. Tony Van Bynen (Newmarket—Aurora, Lib.): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses, who are providing us with good
insight and perspective into the issues.

My first question is for Air Canada.

Since the beginning of the pandemic, Air Canada has worked in
close co-operation with Global Affairs Canada to bring Canadians
home. Can you share with the committee how many special repatri‐
ation flights Air Canada has operated, and how many Canadians
were on those flights?
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Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Yes, Mr. Chair. Thank you for the question.

Yes, we actually operated 21 special repatriation flights, and we
brought back just over 8,500 Canadians on those flights. In addi‐
tion, during the pandemic and during the crisis and the taking down
and the tightening of border restrictions, we also leveraged our
commercial routes that were already in place. When we tabulate it
completely, it's roughly 300,000 Canadians who were repatriated
back to Canada.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you.

Dr. Chung, we know that some of the cabin air in an aircraft is
recirculated after it's been filtered, so I'm hoping you can elaborate
on the ventilation system in the aircraft.

First, how does the ventilation system in an aircraft work when
the aircraft is in the air? Can you elaborate on the flow pattern of
the air in the aircraft and whether it is more likely to contribute to
the spread or whether it is effective in preventing the spread? Is
there something that the passengers can do to help the ventilation
system, such as perhaps keeping the vents above their seats off? Al‐
so, how does this differ when the aircraft is parked and the engines
are off in the case of ground delays?

Dr. Jim Chung: Mr. Chair, thank you for the question. That is a
very good question, and it does take a bit of a dissertation, so I
apologize for a bit of a lengthy answer here.

In flight, the cabin air typically will be a 50-50 mix of bleed air
through the engine and recirculated air through the cabin, in most
aircraft. The recirculated air through the cabin goes through the
high-efficiency particulate arrestor filter, which, as mentioned earli‐
er, will filter out 99.9% of all bacteria, fungi and viruses, and it
does get recirculated into the cabin.

The flow of air within the cabin itself, though, is not from front
to back but side to side, essentially, so it circulates in a transverse
pattern relative to the longitudinal axis of the aircraft. Hence, what
you will hear from public health officials when they are doing noti‐
fications is typically that they are asking for two rows, either in
front of or behind the index case passenger, for any potential con‐
tact tracing on board an aircraft.

On the ground, the air is plugged into an external air-handling
unit that gets plugged into the aircraft.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you.

My next question is for Air Transat.

What would it mean to the financial viability of the airlines if
non-essential travel restrictions were loosened prematurely but then
had to be tightened up again due to new waves?
● (1450)

Mr. Howard Liebman: Thank you for the question. I'll answer
and see if my colleague Captain Bourdages wants to weigh in.

I think, on behalf of all of us, that nobody wants to get this
wrong. First and foremost, the UN civil aviation organization,
ICAO, has laid out its CART protocols, and we, the airlines and air‐
ports, are working now with the federal government and interde‐
partmental committees to look at all of this suite of restrictions and

make sure we get it right. The “safe to safe” corridor is one of
them.

We want to be clear. We think that we can't wait years until
there's a widely available vaccine to get back in the air. We have to
get this done safely. We believe there is a path forward, in line with
public health recommendations and UN standards, for sure.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Great, thank you.

My understanding is that, with pre-pandemic flights, many of the
flights pretty much had to be fully booked for airlines to be prof‐
itable. Is that correct? If so, what are the implications post-COVID?
Would prices need to go up much higher because of the lower pas‐
senger loads?

I'll direct that to each of the airlines. What does the future look
like post-pandemic?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Well, I'll start. I'll be quick, to allow my col‐
leagues to respond.

Look, we're a supply-and-demand business. We're in a state right
now where demand is off. I don't necessarily see that transition into
higher airfares. What it does mean for the businesses is that as long
as these restrictions stay in place and we're not looking at balanced
ways to reopen the economy, it will have a tremendous impact on
the financial viability of these companies in order for them to sus‐
tain themselves.

Due to the high fixed cost nature of our business, we're continu‐
ing to burn through cash on a daily, monthly and quarterly basis. To
put a fine point on it, and we've stated this publicly, we burn rough‐
ly $22 million in cash because of the infrastructure and the support
for this business. That equates to about $1.8 billion a quarter, if you
do the math on that. If demand does not pick up, it will have a sig‐
nificant downward impact on these organizations as a whole.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Okay.

Are there other observations?

Mr. Howard Liebman: Sure. I'm happy to jump in as well for
Air Transat, just to say that if we are able to safely restart, as we
hope, in about a month's time, we're looking at about 15% capacity.
In our leisure business, summer is do-or-die. We're already well in‐
to summer. Again, we're looking at offering about 15% of our offer‐
ings. It is a pretty dire situation. We have not operated or sold tick‐
ets for more than three months.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: WestJet.

The Chair: Yes, go ahead.

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: Yes, I would just like to add to that
as well. I think it is very difficult for us to ascertain what the finan‐
cial impact will be in the post-COVID world.
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Just picking up on what Ferio and Howard have said, I would al‐
so like to point to a recent IATA study that actually touched on seat
distancing. In addition to the demand that we would require, any
sort of health measures would require us to impose certain things
such as seat distancing—although we are doing that now.

They completed a study. Out of 122 airlines, on average the
break-even point was at a load factor of 77%. On 737 aircraft,
which are the majority of our fleet, if we maintain social distancing
for the extended future, that would put our load factor at, effective‐
ly, 62% of normal capacity. If you look at the break-even point of
77%, and a seat distance capacity of 62%, there are obviously some
inherent challenges there.

I think it's hard for us to predict, but there are many factors that
go into what the post-COVID world will look like.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Van Bynen.

[Translation]

Mr. Thériault, you have two and a half minutes.
Mr. Luc Desilets: Mr. Chair, this is Mr. Desilets. I will be taking

over. I hope that is all right.

I would like to thank our guests.

I have a quick question for Mr. Liebman from Air Transat.

What percentage of refund requests were granted?
Mr. Howard Liebman: I do not exactly understand the question.

To date, we have issued credits to our customers worth approxi‐
mately $500 million on approximately $600 million in sales.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Are you talking about refunds here?
Mr. Howard Liebman: No, I am not talking about refunds. Ev‐

eryone has been offered a travel credit. We are not giving refunds.
● (1455)

Mr. Luc Desilets: Okay.

I will ask Mr. Pugliese the same question. What percentage of re‐
fund requests have been granted to date?
[English]

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Thank you. I don't have a percentage for a
refunds approach process, but what I can tell you is that just over a
billion dollars in refunds on refundable tickets is in process.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: You are talking about refundable tickets. Am I
to understand that no money has gone to refunding customers' tick‐
ets?
[English]

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: That is correct. That was living to the provi‐
sions by way of the contract that they purchased the ticket under.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: In Quebec, normally, a service that is not ren‐
dered automatically implies a full refund. In this case, Mr. Pugliese,
I am asking you what difference your company sees between a can‐

cellation due to the COVID‑19 pandemic and a routine flight can‐
cellation, for which you would refund a customer.

[English]

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Well, it's a good question. We have a refund
for cancelled flights for which the customer purchased a refundable
ticket. In the cases where they are not refunded, they did not pur‐
chase a refundable ticket.

I just want to highlight again that this is not out of the ordinary
for the industry and that it is the practice. As per the CTA state‐
ments that were made on April 22, we are following that and adher‐
ing to that.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: It is unfortunate for us Canadians, because we
see that tickets are being refunded in many other countries. You are
usually subject to similar constraints and requirements.

I would like to ask you one more brief and probably simpler
question, Mr. Pugliese.

[English]

The Chair: Monsieur Desilets, your time is up.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

[English]

The Chair: Mr. Davies, we go now to you for two and a half
minutes, please.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

For Air Canada and WestJet, I think yours are the only two air‐
lines for which this question is appropriate. Has your airline seen an
increase in air cargo traffic throughout the current pandemic? If so,
I'm curious as to whether that has helped to compensate for the de‐
cline in passenger revenues. If so, to what degree?

Mr. Ferio Pugliese: I will start. We've done a significant amount
of work in the area of cargo. We've retrofitted a number of our 777
extended-range aircraft. We've taken out all the seats and retrofitted
the aircraft to carry cargo. We've done that with a few of our Airbus
products as well.

It doesn't offset the revenue anywhere near what commercial
passenger traffic would be, just because of the sheer volumes, but it
certainly has helped in this period of time to allow us to get essen‐
tial goods around the globe. We started that work back in the latter
part of March and continue it to date.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

Mr. Mikoch-Gerke, does WestJet have expanded cargo? Do you
do cargo?



June 22, 2020 HESA-29 27

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: We do cargo, and we have expanded
our capacity to the extent that we're able to. We have not reconfig‐
ured our aircraft. We've done some increased services of critical
goods such as blood plasma. We've also picked up some additional
work to help support Canada Post. We've done a couple of all-cargo
charters transporting PPE between Dublin and Atlanta.

That said, even though we have seen a slight increase in our car‐
go traffic in what we've done, it does not supplement for the in‐
creased loss in passenger demand.

Mr. Don Davies: Okay.
Mr. Howard Liebman: Mr. Chair, if I may, I'll answer for Air

Transat just very briefly on the cargo question.
Mr. Don Davies: Sure.
Mr. Howard Liebman: I'm pleased to say that as part of our

restart plan, we have converted two wide-body Airbus 330 aircraft
to freighters, and we're in the process of reaching out to different
partners and stakeholders. Just as we repatriated Canadians home at
the end of our flying, once we get back in the air, our intention will
be to help out in offering lifts to the provinces and the government
to bring PPE in from China and other markets.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you, Mr. Liebman. I didn't mean to ig‐
nore you. I just presumed, maybe incorrectly—

Mr. Howard Liebman: That we weren't flying. Absolutely.
Mr. Don Davies: —that you didn't do cargo.

My last question would be for WestJet and Air Canada.

I know that, on April 27, WestJet asked for a federal exemption
from the federal labour minister to eliminate the requirement of 16
weeks' notice for a mass layoff of more than 50 workers. I'm curi‐
ous to know if you received that exemption from the federal gov‐
ernment. Air Canada, it's the same for you. I would like to know if

you applied for an exemption and, if you did, what the status of that
is.
● (1500)

Mr. Jared Mikoch-Gerke: We revoked our application for that
exemption.

Mr. Don Davies: Okay.

Air Canada?
Mr. Ferio Pugliese: Yes, we have made that application, and we

have not received a response.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.
Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.
The Chair: That wraps up our questioning on our second panel

today.

I'd like to thank the members, as always, for their very tough
questions. They were good questions.

I'd like to thank the witnesses for giving us their time, for sharing
with us their context and challenges, and for all the great informa‐
tion they've provided.

I'd like to acknowledge particularly the translators. This is a very
challenging environment for translators. We have all these different
end points where we all have different audio situations and differ‐
ent networking, and it's extremely challenging for the translators. I
would certainly like to thank them for helping us bridge the gap be‐
tween the two languages and for all the work they do. It's very
much appreciated.

Thank you, everybody.

The meeting is now adjourned.
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